
Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
 April 29, 2021, Electronic Meeting 

The Board Meeting will stream live at  https://youtu.be/S7T2dcO_6n4 

AGENDA 
Thursday, April 29, 2021, 9:00 A.M. 

1. Approval of Agenda            ACTION 
– Byron Bateman, Chairman

2. Approval of Minutes   ACTION 
– Byron Bateman, Chairman

3. Old Business/Action Log CONTINGENT 
– Kevin Albrecht, Vice-Chair

4. DWR Update  INFORMATIONAL 
– Rory Reynolds, DWR Interim Director

5. Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021        ACTION 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator

6. Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021        ACTION 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator

7. Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021        ACTION 
- Riley Peck, OIAL Species Coordinator

8. Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 ACTION 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator

9. 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations ACTION 
- Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator

10. Conservation Permit Rule Amendments     ACTION  
- Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief

11. Weber Florence Creek CWMU Permit Request     ACTION 
- Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator

12. AIS Rule Amendments – Dip Tank     ACTION 
- Nate Owens,  AIS Coordinator/Boating Access Coordinator

Items 13-14 – Time Certain 1:00 pm  
        ACTION 

 ACTION 

INFORMATIONAL 

           CONTINGENT 

13. Clint Heiber Permit Variance Request
- Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing 

Coordinator

14. Eric Richins Stipulation
- Greg Hansen, Asst. Attorney General

15. Technologies Survey Result
– Wyatt Bubak, Captain, DWR

16. Other Business
– Byron Bateman, Chairman

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this 
meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days notice.   

https://youtu.be/S7T2dcO_6n4


 1 

                                  Draft 4/29/2021 
Wildlife Board Motions 

 
Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response to date: 
 
 
Fall 2021 – Target Date – Resident Only permits for the Youth Elk hunt 
 
 MOTION: I move that we ask the division to review the possibility of youth any weapon elk 
 tags going to residents only and bring back the information next year.  This is to be placed on the 
 Action Log. 
 

Motion made by: Randy Dearth 
 Assigned to: Covy Jones/Lindy Varney 
 Action: Under Study 
 Status: To be presented November 2021 
 Placed on Action Log: December 3, 2020 
 
 
 
 
Action Log Assignment 
 
December 3, 2020 
Chad Wilson – DWR and the CWMU Committee to put a presentation together educating the public on the 
benefits of the CWMU program.   



 Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
 January 5, 2021 

Electronic Meeting 
The Board Meeting will stream live at https://youtu.be/5hftBj4VNOo 

AGENDA 
Tuesday January 5, 2021, Board Meeting 9:00 am 

 
1.  Approval of Agenda 

– Byron Bateman, Chairman 
ACTION 

2.  Approval of Minutes 
– Byron Bateman, Chairman 

ACTION 

3.  Old Business/Action Log 
– Kevin Albrecht, Vice-Chairman 
 
 
 

CONTINGENT 

4.  DWR Update 
– Rory Reynolds, DWR Director 

INFORMATIONAL 

5.  2021 Landowner Association Permit Recommendations 
– Rory Reynolds, DWR Director 
– Chad Wilson, Public Wildlife/Private Lands Coordinator 

 

ACTION 

6.  R657-33 Black Bear Rule Amendments and Recommendations 
– Darren DeBloois, Game Mammals Coordinator 

ACTION 

7.  Other Business 
– Byron Bateman, Chairman 

CONTINGENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative aids 
and services) for this meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days notice. 

 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the ability of the virus to spread from person to person, the Governor has implemented a number of Executive Orders directed 

at controlling spread of the virus by minimizing face-to-face interactions. Public gatherings are strongly discouraged by the CDC, State of Utah, and local health 
departments since they facilitate face-to-face contact and pose an elevated risk for virus transmission. The Division of Wildlife Resources and the chair of this public 
body have determined that public gathering at Regional Advisory Council and Wildlife Board meetings presents a substantial risk to the health and safety of those 

who attend—and will conduct this meeting using a fully electronic format. This meeting format is authorized by recent amendment to the Utah Code1 and 
Executive Order by Utah Governor Gary Herbert2—and will be temporarily used in place of the in-person public meetings that usually occur around the state. Anyone 

wishing to comment on agenda topics in future meetings or to observe this meeting may do so by logging on to the Division’s webpage at 
https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html where instructions and links are provided. 

 

1 Utah Code Section 52-4-207(4). 
2 Executive Order Suspending the Enforcement of Provisions of Utah Code §§ 52-4-202 and 52-4-207, and Related State 
Agency Orders, Rules, and Regulations, Due to Infectious Disease COVID-19 Novel, March 18, 2020. 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html


Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 

 
Draft 1/05/2021 

 
Wildlife Board Motions 

 

Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action, and the response to date: 
 
 
Spring 2021 – Target Date – Updates in Hunting Technology 
 

MOTION: I move that we ask the Division to look at any new hunting technology 
since the last update to the Board, and report on it.  This is to be placed on the 
Action Log.  

Motion made by: Kevin Albrecht 
Assigned to: Justin Shannon/Covy Jones  
Action: Under Study 
Status: Pending 
Placed on Action Log: August 27, 2020 
 
MOTION: I move that we ask the Division to review the possibility of youth any weapon 
elk tags going to residents only, and bring back the information next year.  This is to be 
placed on the Action Log. 
 
Motion made by:  Randy Dearth 
Assigned to:   
Action:  Under Study 
Status:  Pending  
Placed on Action Log:  December 3, 2020 

   



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021, DNR Auditorium 

Electronic Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

 
 

1) Approval of Agenda (Action) 
 
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and passed 
unanimously 
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda for the January 5, 2021 Wildlife 
Board Meeting. 
 

2) Approval of Minutes (Action) 
 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Donnie Hunter and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the December 3, 2020 Wildlife 
Board Meeting. 
 

3)  2021 Landowner Association Permit Recommendations (Action) 
 
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Randy Dearth and passed 5 - 1.  Wade Heaton 
declared a conflict of interest and recused himself from a vote.   
 

MOTION:  I move that we approve the actual permit number recommendations 
as presented by the Division during the board meeting.   
 

4) R657-33 Black Bear Rule Amendments and Recommendations 
 
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Bret Selman and passed unanimously.   
 

MOTION:     I move that we accept the Division’s recommendations as presented.  
 

5) Other business 
 
The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Karl Hirst and passed 5 in favor, with 
1 excused.  Wade Heaton was excused for the remainder of the meeting.  

 
MOTION: I move that we request from the Division a work session meeting in 
March on a date that the Division identifies.   

 
 
 
 
 

 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021, DNR Auditorium 

Electronic Meeting 
Attendance 

 
Wildlife Board RAC Chairs  

Byron Bateman – Chairman Randy Dearth Central – Brock McMillan 
Kevin Albrecht – Vice-Chairman Wade Heaton Southern – Brayden Richmond 
Rory Reynolds – Exec Secretary Karl Hirst Southeastern –  Chris Wood 
 Donnie Hunter Northeastern – Brett Prevedel 
 Bret Selman Northern – Justin Oliver 
    

Division Personnel 
Ben Nadolski Lindy Varney Teresa Griffin  
Chad Wilson Matt Briggs Torrey Christopherson  
Darren DeBloois Mike Christensen Wyatt Bubak  
Dave Beveridge Mike Fowlks   
Dax Magnus Miles Hanberg   
Dennis Shumway Paige Wiren   
Greg Hansen Paul Gedge   
James Christensen Paul Washburn   
Jason Vernon Rory Reynolds   
Justin Shannon Rusty Robinson   
Kevin Bunnell Staci Coons   
    
    

   



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021, DNR Auditorium 

Electronic Meeting 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5hftBj4VNOo 

 

00:00:01 Chairman Bateman called the meeting to order, read a public health order from the 
State of Utah regarding COVID-19 and public meetings, and took a roll call.   

00:03:39 1)  Approval of Agenda (Action) 
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda for the January 5, 2021 
meeting. 

00:04:22 2)  Approval of Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Donnie Hunter and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the December 3, 2020 
Wildlife Board Meeting. 

 3)   Old Business/Action Log (Contingent)  
There was no old business discussed at this time.      

00:05:08 4)  DWR Update (Informational)    
Director Rory Reynolds gave updates on Wildlife, Administration, Habitat and Law 
Enforcement sections, mentioned the upcoming two vacancies on the Wildlife Board, 
and noted the dates of the application period.  
A photomontage video celebrating recently retired Director Mike Fowlks’ career was 
played, after which board members recognized Mike Fowlks’ contributions to wildlife 
conservation and management.  

00:21:12 5)  2021 Landowner Association Permit Recommendations (Action)    
Chairman Bateman asked Wade Heaton to summarize questions and concerns 
regarding board member Heaton’s perceived or potential conflict of interest when 
voting on Landowner Association action items.  Mr. Heaton presented his standing 
and position as a CWMU operator, and stated that, to err on the side of caution, he 
would recuse himself from voting on this action item. 

00:26:00 Division Comments  
Director Reynolds requested that the Board vote on the Landowner Association permit 
number recommendations that were generated based on a motion made at the previous 
Wildlife Board meeting.   
Division of Wildlife Resources Private Lands Public Wildlife Coordinator Chad 
Wilson gave a presentation on Division permit recommendations based on the motion 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 

made at the previous Wildlife Board meeting.   

00:27:31 Board/RAC Questions/Comments   
The Board asked for clarification on the method used to derive the permit 
recommendation numbers, and how acreage change affected the recommendations.   
The Board recognized that, included in the motion to vote on permit numbers, was the 
directive for the Division to rewrite the landowner rule.   
The Board asked for clarification on the difference between permit recommendation 
numbers presented at the last board meeting and the recommendations presented at 
this meeting.   
The Northeastern RAC Chair noted that the change in the permit recommendation for 
the North Slope, Three Corners hunt area was, percentage wise, a significant change. 
The Board commented that if the public were receiving fewer permits, then 
landowners should receive fewer permits as well.   
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Randy Dearth and passed 
5 - 1.  Wade Heaton declared a conflict of interest and recused himself from a vote. 

MOTION:  I move that we approve the actual permit number 
recommendations as presented by the Division during the board meeting.   
  

 6)  R657-33 Black Bear Rule Amendments and Recommendations (Action) 
Game Mammals Coordinator Darren DeBloois gave a pre-recorded online 
presentation that was posted on the Division of Wildlife Resources website. 

00:35:25 Public Comments  
Director Reynolds summarized public comments received from the online 
presentation.   

00:35:45 Board/RAC Questions  
There were no questions from the Board or RACs.   

00:36:05 RAC Summaries 
Each RAC passed the bear rule amendments and recommendations with varying 
dissent and stipulations. 

00:39:30 Board Questions 
The Board asked the Division to explain the role of the legislature in shaping wildlife 
management decisions.   
The Board asked the Division to share recent general bear harvest data as well as 
female harvest data, and asked for general information on law enforcement response 
and depredation issues.  The Board also asked about bear permit surrenders in lieu of 
COVID-19 restrictions and how, or if, COVID-19 restrictions affected the surrender 
process.  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
January 5, 2021 
 

The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Bret Selman and 
passed unanimously.   

MOTION:  I move that we accept the Division’s recommendations as 
presented.  

00:51:08 7)  Other Business (Contingent) 
The Board shared that feedback had been received from sportsmen and the public 
wondering when in-person meetings, rather than electronic meetings, could be 
resumed.  The Board suggested exploring technology tools to facilitate public input 
during meetings.   
The RACs asked the Division for an update on modifying the annual meetings 
structure. 
The Board, RACs and Division discussed the advantages and disadvantages of the 
electronic meeting format, as well as the value of engaging the pubic in forming 
wildlife management plans.   
The Board suggested scheduling a work meeting session prior to the scheduled April 
2021 meeting.   
The Chairman asked if the new technology update action log item could be included in 
a proposed work meeting.   
The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Karl Hirst and 
passed 5 in favor, with 1 excused.  Wade Heaton was excused for the remainder of the 
meeting. 

MOTION: I move that we request from the Division a work session 
meeting in March on a date that the Division identifies.   
 

01:17:08 Vice Chair Albrecht pointed out that the Division’s update on new hunting technology 
is due spring 2021.   

01:19:39 Meeting adjourned. 
 



April RAC Meetings 
Summary of Motions 

 
1) Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 

  
 CR NR 
  MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the Division’s recommendations as  
  presented. 

PASSES: Unanimous 
 

 SR  MOTION:  To decrease the number of General Season Buck Deer permits on the  
  Manti/LaSal unit by an additional 600 permits.  
  PASSES: Unanimous 
 

  MOTION:  I move that the Division provide a summary of all permits issued on 
 each unit, in one place, and that this information be made available to the public, 
 and the RAC and Board Meetings in April of each year. 

  PASSES: Unanimous 
 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 
 Division. 

PASSES: 10 in favor 1 opposed 
 

 SER  MOTION:  To decrease the number of General Season Buck Deer permits on the  
  Manti/LaSal unit rom 8100 to 7500.  
  PASSES: 8 in favor 1 opposed 
 
  MOTION: To leave the general season buck permits static on the San Juan Unit. 
  PASSES: 8 in favor 1 opposed 

 
MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 

 Division. 
PASSES: Unanimous 
 

 NER  MOTION:  To decrease the number of General Season Buck Deer permits on the  
  Manti/LaSal unit by an additional 600 permits.  
  PASSES: Unanimous 

 
MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations (including mule 

 deer antlerless) as presented by the Division. 
PASSES: 10 in favor 1 abstained 
 

 

 

 

 



2)                 Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 

 CR NR SR 
  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

PASSES: Unanimous 
 

 SER MOTION:  To ask the Wildlife Board to review the elk age objective on the  
  Bitter Creek, Book Cliffs. 

PASSES: 8 in favor 1 opposed 
 

  MOTION:  To ask the Wildlife Board to evaluate the timing of the application  
  period so that people can see permit numbers before they apply for a permit. 

PASSES: 8 in favor 1 opposed 
 
  MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the Division’s recommendations as 
   presented. 

PASSES: Unanimous 
 
  NER MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

PASSES: 8 in favor 2 opposed 
 
 

3) Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 

 CR MOTION:  To adjust the Division’s recommendations of bison archery   
  permits on the Henry Mountains from four permits to six permits. 

PASSES: 7 in favor 1 opposed 
 
MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 

 Division. 
PASSES: Unanimous 

 
 NR NER 
  MOTION: To accept Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 as  
  presented. 
  PASSES: Unanimous 
 
 SR MOTION: To increase the Henry Mountain’s Archery Only, Hunter’s Choice  
  permits from 4 to 6 in 2021. 
  PASSES: 10 in favor 1 opposed. 
 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 
 Division. 

PASSES: Unanimous 
 
 SER MOTION: To increase the Henry Mountain’s Archery Only, Hunter’s Choice  
  permits from 4 to 6 in 2021. 
  PASSES: 7 in favor 2 opposed. 
 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 
 Division. 

PASSES: Unanimous 



4) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 

   CR NR SR SER 
  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: Unanimous 
 
 NER MOTION:  To accept the Division’s antlerless elk recommendations as   
  presented. 
  PASSES: 8 in favor 2 opposed 
 
  MOTION: To accept the Division’s buck and doe pronghorn, antlerless moose,  
  and ewe bighorn recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: Unanimous 

 

 5)        2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 

 CR MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
PASSES: 7 in favor 1 opposed 
 

 NR SR SER 
  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

PASSES: Unanimous 
 

 NER MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
PASSES: 9 in favor 1 opposed 
 

 6) Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 

 CR MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: 6 in favor 1 opposed 1 abstained 
 
 NR SER 
  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: Unanimous 
 
 SR MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: 10 in favor 1 opposed 
 
 NER MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 
  PASSES: 10 in favor 1 abstained 
 



Central Region RAC Meeting 
Video Conference 

April 6, 2021 
The meeting streamed live at https://youtu.be/jnLFzZnMEis  

 

Tuesday, April 6, 2021  6:00 pm 
 

1.  Approval of Agenda 
– Brock McMillan, RAC chair 

ACTION 

2.  Approval of Minutes 
– Brock McMillan, RAC chair 

ACTION 

3.  Wildlife Board Meeting Update 
– Brock McMillan, RAC chair 

INFORMATIONAL 

4.  Regional Update 
– Jason Vernon, Regional Supervisor 

INFORMATIONAL 

5.  Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

6.  Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

7.  Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 
- Riley Peck,OIAL Species Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

8.  Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 
- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

   9.  2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 
        - Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 

ACTION 

 10.  Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 
        - Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 

ACTION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Details of the specific recommendations can be found at www.wildlife.utah.gov 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations 

(including auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-
538-4718, giving her at least five working days notice.  

https://youtu.be/jnLFzZnMEis
about:blank


Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

1 
 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

Springville, Utah 
Summary of Motions 

 
1) Approval of Agenda 

 
The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Ben Lowder and passed 
unanimously 7 in favor. Christine Schmitz did not vote due to loss of connection. 
 

MOTION: To approve to approve the agenda as presented. 
 

2) Approval of Minutes 
 

The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Ben Lowder and passed 
unanimously 7 in favor.  Christine Schmitz did not vote due to loss of connection. 
 

MOTION:   To approve the minutes of the Central Region RAC meeting as 
transcribed. 

 
3) Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 

The following motion was made by Scott Jensen, seconded by Ken Strong and passed 
unanimously 8 in favor. 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the Division’s recommendations as 
presented. 

4)                 Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 

The following motion was made by Ben Lowder, seconded by Christine Schmitz and passed 
unanimously 8 in favor. 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the Division’s recommendations as 
   presented. 
 

5) Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 

The following motion was made by Ben Lowder, seconded Ken Strong and passed 7 in favor and 
1 opposed.  Eric Reid opposed.      

MOTION:  To adjust the Division’s recommendations of bison archery 
permits on the Henry Mountains from four permits to six permits. 

The following motion was made by Mike Christensen, seconded by Ben Lowder and passed 
unanimously 9 in favor. 

MOTION:  To accept the remainder of the recommendations as 
                        presented by Division. 
 



Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

2 
 

6) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 

The following motion was made by Scott Jensen, seconded by Ken Strong and passed 
unanimously 8 in favor. 

    MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

 7)        2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 

The following motion was made by Mike Christensen, seconded by Eric Reid and passed 7 in 
favor and 1 opposed. Scott Jensen opposed 

  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

 8) Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 

The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Scott Jensen and passed 6 in favor, 
1 opposed and 1 abstention.  Josh Lenart opposed, Ben Lowder abstained from voting due to 
conflict of interest. 

  MOTION:  To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

 
  



Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

3 
 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

Online Attendance 
 
 
 

RAC Members   
Brock McMillan – RAC Chair  Absent 
Danny Potts     Jake Steele   

  Eric Reid Luke Decker 
  Ken Strong     AJ Mower 
  Ben Lowder     Steve Lund    
  Scott Jensen 

Michael Christensen    Excused 
Josh Lenart 
Christine Schmitz 
 
 
 

Wildlife Board 
  Donnie Hunter 

 
 

DWR Personnel 
  Jason Vernon     Rusty Robinson 
  Riley Peck     Dale Liechty 
  Covy Jones     Greg Hansen 
  Chad Wilson     Jason Robinson 

Matt Briggs     Justin Shannon 
Kent Hersey     Lindy Varney 
Scott Root     Wes Alexander 
Michael Christensen 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Public invited to join online: https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0 
 

https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0
https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0


Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

4 
 

Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

Springville, Utah 
https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0 

 
 

00:00:00 RAC Chair Brock McMillan called the meeting to order. He called the roll of RAC 
members and indicated which UDWR personnel were present on the broadcast. He 
explained the process that there will be no live presentations or public comments taken 
during the meeting. 

00:06:32 1)  Approval of Agenda (Action) 
The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Ben Lowder and 
passed unanimously. 7-0  Christine Schmitz did not vote due to loss of connection. 

MOTION:            I move that we approve the agenda as presented. 

00:06:32 2)  Approval of Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Ben Lowder and 
passed unanimously. 7-0  Christine Schmitz did not vote due to loss of connection. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes as transcribed. 

00:08:50 
 

3)  Wildlife Board Meeting (Informational) 
RAC Chair Brock McMillan updated the RAC. 

00:11:00 4)  DWR Update (Informational) 
Jason Vernon updated the RAC on all regional activities. 

00:19:50 5)  Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html. 

00:20:05 Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation 

00:24:20 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked about Kamas unit permit decrease, HAMS permit limits, 
West Desert deer data collection, Pine Valley unit permit decrease, biology behind 
the management plans. 

00:54:17 RAC Discussion   
The RAC discussed buck harvest versus herd health and being part of the 
conversation.  More informative presentations. 

01:00:43 Buck Deer Permit Recommendations  

https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0
https://youtu.be/szS2clrQga0
https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html


Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

5 
 

                                         MOTIONS 
     The following motion was made by Scott Jensen, seconded by Ken Strong and 

passed unanimously.  8-0 

MOTION:  I move to accept the Division’s recommendation as presented. 

01:02:00 6)  Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html. 

01:02:14 
 

Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 

01:03:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC asked about the management history of the Book Cliffs unit, Southwest 
Desert permit reduction, and antelope on Parker Mountains. 

01:18:16 RAC Discussion   
RAC members discussed Book Cliffs recommendation and would like to see a 
presentation on numbers akin to the deer presentation from last week. 

01:23:44  Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021  

                                                MOTIONS 
The following motion was made by Ben Lowder, seconded by Christine Schmitz  
and passed unanimously. 8-0 

MOTION:  I move to accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

01:24:50 7)  Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html. 

01:24:58 Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 

01:26:21 RAC Questions   
The RAC asked about OTC Bison harvest, Henry Mountains archery permit 
increase, season dates, harvest numbers and success. 

01:45:08 RAC Discussion 

      RAC members discussed Bison Henry Mountains archery permit increase from one 
to more permits. 

01:57:10 Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html
https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html


Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

6 
 

                                                MOTIONS 

The following motion was made by Ben Lowder, seconded by Ken Strong and 
passed 7 to 1.  Eric Reid opposed. 

MOTION:  I move to adjust the Division’s recommendations of bison archery 
permits on the Henry Mountains from four permits to six permits. 
 
The following motion was made by Mike Christensen, seconded by Ben Lowder and 
passed unanimously. 8 to 0 

     MOTION:  I move to accept the remainder of the recommendations as 
     presented by Division. 
 

02:03:47 8) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)  
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html. 

02:03:52 Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 

02:04:49 RAC Questions   
The RAC had no questions 

02:05:02 RAC Discussion 
      The RAC had no discussion  

02:05:20 Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 

                                                    MOTIONS 

The following motion was made by Scott Jensen, seconded by Ken Strong and 
passed unanimously. 8 to 0 

MOTION:  I move to accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

02:08:32 9) 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)  
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html. 

02:08:40 Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 

02:08:15 RAC Questions   

https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html
https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html


Central Region RAC Meeting 
April 6, 2021 

7 
 

The RAC asked about public decrease opportunity with elk movement between 
public and private land, tying CWMU recommendation to antlerless 
recommendations and include in RAC packet, CWMU harvest information. 

02:20:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC discussed they would like to make sure the CWMU’s are proactively 
managing to help meet the objectives of the unit.  They would also like to have some 
additional information about past permit recommendations presented in the future 
(to help provide context). 

02:29:36 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 

                                                    MOTIONS 

The following motion was made by Mike Christensen, seconded by Eric Reid and 
passed 7 to 1.  Scott Jensen opposed. 

     MOTION:  I move to accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

02:31:45 10) Conservation Permit Rule Amendments (Action) 
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-minutes.html 

02:31:53 Public Comments  
Jason Vernon summarized public comments received from the online presentation. 

02:33:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC asked about merging the 3-year and 1-year contracts, breakdown of sold 
permits. 

00:42:52 RAC Discussion 
      The RAC discussed point creep, waiting period clarification. 

02:50:11 Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 

                                                    MOTIONS 

The following motion was made by Ken Strong, seconded by Scott Jensen and 
passed 6 to 1.  Josh Lenart opposed, Ben Lowder abstained from voting due to 
conflict of interest. 

     MOTION:  I move to accept the Division’s recommendations as presented. 

02:55:35 Meeting adjourned. 

 

https://wildlife.utah.gov/online-rac.html


Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
April 7, 2021 

The meeting will stream live at https://youtu.be/F-B-hJMxNsY   
 
 

1. Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
 - RAC Chair 
 
2. Approval of Agenda and Minutes                                 ACTION 
  - RAC Chair 
 
3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update                 INFORMATIONAL                       
  - RAC Chair 
 
4. Regional Update        INFORMATIONAL    

- DWR Regional Supervisor 
 
5.        Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021                                          ACTION 
           - Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager  
 
6.        Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021             ACTION 
           - Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager  
 
7.       Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021                              ACTION  
           - Riley Peck, OIAL Species Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager  
 
8.        Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021                                           ACTION  
           - Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager  
 
9.        2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations                                   ACTION  
           - Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator  
 
10.      Conservation Permit Rule Amendments                                                    ACTION  
            - Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 
 

 
CR RAC – April 6th, 6:00 PM                                     SER RAC – April 14th, 6:30 PM 
https://youtu.be/Hrdq1I2Smz0                                     https://youtu.be/FH6nAFmZMnQ 
 
 
NR RAC – April 7th, 6:00 PM                                      NER RAC – April 15th, 6:00 PM 
https://youtu.be/F-B-hJMxNsY                                     https://youtu.be/9nB58qQjZqY 
 
 
SR RAC – April 13th, 6:00 PM                                    Board Meeting – April 29th, 9:00 
AMhttps://youtu.be/kQWAMxEHLEg                               https://youtu.be/S7T2dcO_6n4 

https://youtu.be/F-B-hJMxNsY
https://youtu.be/Hrdq1I2Smz0
https://youtu.be/FH6nAFmZMnQ
https://youtu.be/F-B-hJMxNsY
https://youtu.be/9nB58qQjZqY
https://youtu.be/kQWAMxEHLEg
https://youtu.be/S7T2dcO_6n4


                                            Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

 
 

1) Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 
 
The following motion was made by Matt Klar, seconded by Randy Hutchison and passed 
unanimously. 
 
              MOTION:   I move that we approve the Agenda and Minutes.                                                                                      
                                                 
 

2)  Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 
    
The following motion was made by Kevin McLeod, motion failed due to lack of a second. 
. 

 MOTION:  I move that we accept the recommendation by SFW to lower the tag 
numbers by an additional 600 permits for a total of 7,500 permits on 
the Manti. 

 
The following motion was made by Randy Hutchison, seconded by Matt Klar passed 
unanimously. 

     MOTION:     I move that we accept the Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for                                                                                                                                                                            
                2021 as presented. 

 
               3)  Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)            
                                                                          
The following motion was made by Randy Hutchison, seconded by Ryan Brown and passed 
unanimously.    

MOTION:   I move that we accept Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit            
Recommendations for 2021 as presented. 

 
               4)     Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)                                                                                 
 
The following motion was made by Aaron Johnson, seconded by Randy Hutchison and passed 
unanimously .    

MOTION:   I move that we accept Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations                                                   
for 2021 as presented. 

 



 
              5)        Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)    
            
 
The following motion was made by Mike Laughter, seconded by Kevin McLeod and passed 
unanimously .    

MOTION: I move that we accept Antlerless Permit Recommendations for                               
                    2021 as presented. 
 

         6)       2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations (Action)  
 
The following motion was made by Aaron Johnson, seconded by Mike Laughter and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION:   I move that we accept 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit                                                  
                     Recommendations as presented.      

 
 
         7)        Conservation Permit Rule Amendments (Action)                                                     

 
The following motion was made by Kevin McLeod, seconded by Ryan Brown and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION:   I move that we accept Conservation Permit Rule Amendments as     
                      presented. 
 

Motion to Adjourn: Made by Randy Hutchison, seconded by Ryan Brown and passed 
unanimously.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Northern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
April 7, 2021 
Attendance 

 
                                                    RAC Members   

Justin Oliver – Chair Ryan Brown       Matt Klar 
Mike Laughter – Vice-Chair Paul Chase      Kevin McLeod 
Ben Nadolski – Exec Secretary Christopher Hoagstrom 

Randy Hutchison 
Aaron Johnson          
                                 

     Darren Parry   
                        

              
        
                       
                                                        
                                                          Board Member 
                                                          Byron Bateman 
                                                          Wade Heaton 
RAC Excused                                   
David Earl                                          
Junior Goring 
Emily Jensco  
Kristin Purdy 
Casey Snider 
 

 
Division Personnel  

Jodie Anderson Mike Christensen   
Hayley Smith David Beveridge   
David Smedley 
Dave Rich 
Eric Anderson 
Jim Christensen 
Covy Jones 
Riley Peck 
Chad Wilson 
Justin Shannon 

Kyle Maynard 
Kent Hersey 
Lindy Varney 
Scott Walker 
Sydney Lamb 

  

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

   

    
 
 

   

    



    
    
    
    
    
    

 
    
    
    
    
    
    
                                              Regional Advisory County Meeting 
                                                                  April 7, 2021 
                                                                    Attendance 

   
 

00:02:47          1) Chairman Justin Oliver called the meeting to order, welcomed the audience,  
reviewed the meeting procedures. 
 

00:08:08 2)  Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Matt Klar, seconded by Randy Hutchison and 
passed unanimously. 
 

      MOTION:   I move that we approve the Agenda and Minutes.                                                                                      
 

00:09:56 
 

3)  Update from past Wildlife Board Meeting by Ben Nadolski 
 
 

00:13:58 4)  Regional Update- Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor (Informational) 
 

00:22:36           Questions from RAC Members 
 

00:29:03 5)   Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021(Action) 
Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

about:blank
about:blank


00:29:22 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor   
 
 

00:32:28 Questions from RAC Members   
 
. 

00:51:50 
 
 

RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions   
       

The following motion was made by Kevin McLeod. Motion failed due to lack of a 
second.  

    MOTION: I move we accept the recommendation by SFW to lower the tag       
numbers by an additional 600 permits for a total of 7,500 permits on the Manti.     

The following motion was made by Randy Hutchison, seconded by Matt Klar passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we accept the Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for  
                    2021 as presented. 
 

00:57:00 6) Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021(Action)                                                                                                         
Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

00:57:59 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor   
 
 

01:00:06 Questions from RAC Members   
 

 

01:19:16 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions   

 The following motion was made by Randy Hutchison , seconded by Ryan Brown  
and passed unanimously. 
 

about:blank
about:blank


MOTION: I move that we accept Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit 
Recommendations for 2021 and presented. 

 

01:26:04 7)  Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action)                                                                                 
Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

01:26:50 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor   
 
 

01:28:55 Questions from RAC Members   
 

01:45:11 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions   
 

The following motion was made by Aaron Johnson , seconded by Randy Hutchison    
 and passed unanimously.  

MOTION:  I move that we accept Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit 
Recommendations for 2021 as presented. 
 
 

01:46:38 8)  Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021(Action) 
Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

01:46:59 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor   
 
 

01:48:20 Questions from RAC Members   
       

01:58:48 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions   
 
The following motion was made by Mike Laughter, seconded by Kevin McLeod  and 
passed Unanimously.  

MOTION:   I move that we accept Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank


as presented. 

 

02:00:30 9) 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations (Action) 
Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-
minutes.html 

02:00:53 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor   
 
. 

20:02:15 Questions/Comments from RAC Members   
 
 

02:05:25 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 
    
The following motion was made by Aaron Johnson, seconded by Mike Laughter and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION:  I move that we we accept 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit                                                        
Recommendations as presented.      
 

02:06:29 10) Conservation Permit Rule Amendment Rule (Action) 
       Presentations could be viewed at  https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-  
       minutes.html    
             

02:07:29 Electronic Public Comment Report by Ben Nadolski, Regional Supervisor 
 

02:08:18 Questions/Comments from RAC Members   
 

 

02:11:44 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 
 
The following motion was made by Kevin McLeod, seconded by Ryan Brown and 
passed unanimously .  

 

about:blank
about:blank
https://wildlife.utah.gov/agendas-materials-


MOTION: I move that we accept Conservation Permit Rule Amendments as 
presented. 

                       
 
 

  

  

02:13:25 Other Business 

  

02:23:16 Meeting adjourned. Motion to Adjourned: Made by Randy Hutchison, seconded by 
Ryan Brown and passed unanimously. 

  

 
 

































































































Southeast Region RAC Meeting 
Video Conference 

April 14, 2021 
The meeting streamed live at https://youtu.be/FH6nAFmZMnQ 

 
 

Wednesday, April 14, 2021, 6:30 pm 

 
1. Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 

- RAC Chair 
 
2. Approval of Agenda and Minutes  

- RAC Chair 
 
3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update  

- RAC Chair 
 
4. Regional Update  

- DWR Regional Supervisor 
 
5. Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021  

- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 
 
6. Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 

- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 
 
7. Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021  

- Riley Peck, OIAL Species Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 
 
8. Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021  

- Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 
 
9. 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations  

- Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 
 
10. Conservation Permit Rule Amendments  

- Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

1 
 

Video Conference 
April 14, 2021 

SUMMARY OF MOTIONS 
 

1. Approval of Agenda & Minutes 
 

The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, seconded by Dana Truman and passed 
unanimously. 9/9 
 
MOTION:  To approve the agenda and minutes as presented. 
 

2. Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 

The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Lynn Sitterud, and passed, 8/1. 
    
MOTION:   Reduce the general season buck deer permits on the Manti-La Sals from 8100 
to 7500. 
 
The following motion was made by Scoot Flannery, and seconded by Steve Duke, and passed, 
8/1. 
 
MOTION: To leave the general season buck permits static on the San Juan Unit. 
 
The following motion was made by Eric Luke and seconded by Kent Johnson, and passed 
unanimously, 9/9. 
 
MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations and presented. 
 

3. Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 
The following motion was made by Kirk Johnson, and seconded by Eric Luke and passed 
unanimously, 8/1. 
    
MOTION:   Ask the wildlife board to review the elk age objective on the Bitter Creek, 
Book Cliffs. 
 
The following motion was made my Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson, and passed 8/1. 

 
MOTION: Ask the wildlife board to evaluate the timing of the application period so that 
people can see permit numbers before they apply for a permit. 
 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and seconded by Todd Thorne, and passed 
unanimously, 9/9. 

 
MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the Division. 
 

4. Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 
The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson, and passed, 7/2. 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

2 
 

MOTION: Increase archery bison permits on Henry Mountains from 4 to 6. 
 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and was seconded by Darren Olson and was 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 

MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the Division. 
 

5. Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 
 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and was seconded by Eric Luke, and passed 
unanimously, 9/9. 

MOTION: To accept the recommendations as presented by the Division. 
 

6. 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 
 
The following motion was made by Steve Duke, and seconded by Kirk Player and passed 
unanimously, 9/9. 
    
MOTION:   Accept the recommendations as presented by the DWR. 
 

7. Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 
 

The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson and passed 
unanimously, 9/9. 
    
MOTION: Accept the recommendations as presented by the DWR. 

 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

3 
 

Southeast Region RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

Online Attendance 
 
 
 

RAC Members Present 
 

Trisha Hedin, Chair; Sportsmen & Women 
Kent Johnson, Vice Chairman; Public at large 
Lynn Sitterud, Elected Official 
Scoot Flannery, Sportsmen & Women 
Steve Duke 
Darren Olsen, USFS 
Todd Thorne, Public at Large 
Kirk Player 
Dana Truman, BLM 
Eric Luke 

 
 
 
 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

4 
 

 

18:30:00 RAC Chair Trisha Hedin called the meeting to order. She called the roll of RAC 
members to indicate who attended the broadcast. She explained the process that there 
will be no live presentations or public comments taken during the meeting. 

18:33:18 1)  Approval of Agenda and Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and seconded by Dana Truman 
and passed unanimously 10. 

 

MOTION:  To approve the agenda and minutes for the Southeast Region RAC 
meeting. 

18:33:00 
 

3)  Wildlife Board Meeting (Informational) 
Chris Wood updated the RAC with Wildlife Board decisions. 

18:34:00 4)  DWR Update (Informational) 
Chris Wood updated the RAC on all regional activities. 

18:41:00 5) Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 
(Action) 

A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

18:42:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

18:46:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked about for clarification about: where DWR got population 
estimates from San Juan units; why is it a three-year recommendation. 

19:08:30 RAC Discussion 
Kent Johnson had a comment and Eric Luke had a comment.  

19:14:00 
 

 

The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Lynn Sitterud, and 
passed, 8/1. 
    

MOTION:   Reduce the general season buck deer permits on the Manti-La Sals 
from 8100 to 7500. 

 

19:23:00 The following motion was made by Scoot Flannery, and seconded by Steve Duke, and 
passed, 8/1. 
 
MOTION: To leave the general season buck permits static on the San Juan Unit. 

19:25:00 The following motion was made by Eric Luke and seconded by Kent Johnson, and 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

5 
 

 
MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations and presented. 
 

19:26:00 6) Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for 2021 
(Action) 

A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

19:26:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

19:28:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked about: what would happen if we did away with the spike hunt 
on the book cliffs. 

19:56:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC members had no comments.  

20:00:00  
The following motion was made by Kirk Johnson, and seconded by Eric Luke and 
passed unanimously, 8/1. 

    
MOTION:   Ask the wildlife board to review the elk age objective on the Bitter 
Creek, Book Cliffs. 

 

20:01:00  
The following motion was made my Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson, and 
passed 8/1. 
 
MOTION: Ask the wildlife board to evaluate the timing of the application 
period so that people can see permit numbers before they apply for a permit. 

20:03:00  
The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and seconded by Todd Thorne, 
and passed unanimously, 9/9. 
 
MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by 
the Division. 

20:05:00 7) Once-in-a-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 
(Action) 

A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

20:06:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

20:06:00 RAC Questions   



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

6 
 

The RAC members asked about: bison on the Book Cliffs; the bison archery hunt on the 
Henry Mountains;  

20:15:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC members had no comments.  

20:15:00 The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson, and 
passed, 7/2. 
 

MOTION: Increase archery bison permits on Henry Mountains from 4 to 6. 

20:25:00 The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and was seconded by Darren Olson 
and was passed unanimously, 9/9. 
 

MOTION: To accept the remainder of the recommendations as presented by the 
Division. 

20:27:00 8) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 
(Action) 
A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

20:27:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

20:28:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked: boundaries for new antlerless hunt. 

20:33:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC members had no comments.  

20:35:00 The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and was withdrawn by Kent Johnson. 

 
MOTION: To leave the antlerless permits on the La Sals static at 500. 

20:38:00 The following motion was made by Kent Johnson, and was seconded by Eric Luke, and 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 
 

MOTION: To accept the recommendations as presented by the Division. 

20:40:00 9) 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 
(Action) 

A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

7 
 

20:40:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

20:40:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked about: if the DWR has ever considered requiring CWMUs to 
harvest tooth data. 

20:45:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC members had no comments.  

20:45:00  
The following motion was made by Steve Duke, and seconded by Kirk Player and 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 

    
MOTION:   Accept the recommendations as presented by the DWR. 

 

20:47:00 10) Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 
 
(Action) 

A pre-recorded presentation was provided online on the Division website prior to the 
meeting: https://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

20:47:00 Public Comments  
Chris Wood stated there were many online comments from the public. 

20:48:00 RAC Questions   
The RAC members asked: how many dollars were put into wildlife in 2020. 

20:50:00 RAC Discussion 
The RAC members comments on how great the conservation program is.  

20:55:00  
The following motion was made by Eric Luke, and seconded by Kent Johnson and 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 

    
MOTION: Accept the recommendations as presented by the DWR. 

 

21:00:00  
The following motion was made by Scoot Flannery, and seconded by Kirk Player and 
passed unanimously, 9/9. 
 

MOTION: To adjourn the meeting. 

21:00:00 Meeting adjourned. 



SER RAC Meeting 
April 14, 2021 

8 
 

 



Page 1 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Northeastern Regional Advisory Council Meeting 

April 15, 2021 
6:00 p.m. 

 
Attendance 

 
 

RAC MEMBERS 
Brett Prevedel  Dan Abeyta 
Jeff Taniguchi  Brad Horrocks 
Mike Smith  Daniel Davis 
Natasha Hadden Conroy Reed 
Joe Arnold  Ritchie Anderson 
Rebekah Jones      

      
Division Personnel  

 
    Miles Hanberg  Covy Jones 
    Kent Hersey  Justin Shannon 
    Clint Sampson  Dax Mangus 

    Riley Peck  Anthony Chirstianson 
Tonya Kieffer-Selby   Rose Fedelleck 
Amy Vande Voort 
Randall Thacker 
Torrey Christophersen 
Dax Mangus 
Mike Christensen 

 
 

     Wildlife Board Members 
Randy Dearth Donny Hunter 

      
Byron Bateman 

 
 
 
00:00:54 1) Welcome 
 

Chairman Brett Prevedel called the meeting to order, welcomed the 
audience, reviewed the meeting procedures, and had the Board and RAC 

  Members introduce themselves. 
     
 
00:03:55 2) Approval of Agenda (Action) 
 

The following motion was made by Brad Horrocks, seconded by 
Jeff Taniguchi.  



Page 2 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION:   I move that we approve the agenda as presented. 
 

00:04:48  Approval of Minutes from January meeting. (Action) 
 

The following motion was made by Dan Abeyta, seconded by 
Natasha Hadden.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION:   I move that we approve the minutes from the January 
meeting. 

 
00:06:06 3) Wildlife Board Meeting Update by RAC Chair, Brett Prevedel  
 
 Brett Prevedel:  I will give a brief update on the last Wildlife Board meeting. 
The Wildlife Board meeting was on January 5, 2021. It was a fairly short meeting. 
The action items were the LOA permit recommendations. If you remember we had 



Page 3 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

adjusted some numbers based on what we felt as a RAC, at least for the three LOA 
that are in the northeast region. The Wildlife Board chose to approve the actual 
permit number recommendations presented by the Division prior to our adjustments. 
A little later we’ll talk about where that’s heading. I believe that was just for one year 
number, even though it’s a cycle typically. There has been a committee formed, I’ll 
just talk about it right now, a committee formed to look into how to do that 
consistently and fair across the board. There is a lot of different situations. Right now 
they went with the DWR recommendation. Then the black bear rule amendments 
which were basically to get the Divisions rules in line with the legislation that went 
through the Utah legislature was accepted as presented. I believe that was all the 
action items that were on that Wildlife Board meeting. Any questions on that? Ok, if 
now, I will turn it over to Miles Hanberg, the regional supervisor, to give the regional 
update.  
 
   
00:08:28 4) Regional Update (Informational) 
      Miles Hanberg, NERO Regional Supervisor 
 
Miles Hanberg:  Thank you Mr. Chair. I have a few things to update the RAC on 

tonight. In our wildlife section they just completed bear denning events. They visited 
eight bear dens this year; dens that have sow that has been collared. Last year some of 
those sows had newborn cubs, and as we visited this year we found none of those bear 
dens had yearlings with them. So with the extreme drought that happened last year likely 
those cubs had succumbed or kicked off, and certainly not with the females anymore. 
There were some dens with newborn cubs, so that is a good sign. But not a good last year 
for bears. Sage Grouse lek counts are underway. I think we’re right at the peak of the 
lekking season right now. Along with that we’re collaring some Sage Grouse with GPS 
collars on Diamond Mountain right now. There have been some previous collaring efforts 
up there, but with these GPS collars we’ll get a lot more fine scaled data with them. So 
that’s what’s going on right now as far as trapping those female Sage Grouse and 
hopefully have that wrapped up in the next couple of weeks. Right now is the time we 
start to often times start to lose a number of our fawn deer as deer start to make the 
transition of winter forage to the spring green up and that is when a lot of mortality is 
triggered on fawns. It hasn’t been a real tough winter on fawns in terms of winter 
conditions, but a lot of our fawns came into the winter with a lower birth rate or body 
weight than they have in the past. And I think we’ve talked before how the lower the 
body weight of those fawns the less chance that they have to survive. So we have seen 
some higher mortality rates on fawns than we would have expected with the winter 
conditions. But again it’s the body condition that’s led to those mortalities. A couple of 
weeks ago there was a Wildlife work session that spent most of the day discussing mule 
deer management and the status of mule deer in the state. There were some regional 
presentations as well. I know Dax Mangus forwarded around the link to that meeting to 
the RAC members. If you have any specific questions, that was a really good 
informational meeting to really research and see what’s going on with deer in Utah and 
you can pass that along to anybody that might have questions as well.  

In our habitat section they are busy implementing a few projects before the end of our 
fiscal year. One of those is a lock and scatter project over in Rabbit Gulch in Duchesne 
county. It’s removing 767 acres of encroaching juniper. A lot of that’s in the old 



Page 4 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

treatment areas that have previously been treated for big game habitat. So that’s going on 
right now. They’re also wrapping up nine additional guzzlers in the Book Cliffs on the 
Range Creek area to help increase water distribution out there and have more water for 
wildlife. That’s going well. In addition they’re starting a watershed assessment for the 
Strawberry River drainage within that Dollar Ridge burn scar. This water shed 
assessment will help identify the projects and activities that need to be done in the future 
to fully restore that watershed and put some stability back into that. To help with wildlife 
but also the Strawberry River and the blue ribbon fishery that it is.  

Aquatic section has been pretty busy ramping up into the field season right now. Just 
finished spawning walleye this week over at Starvation. We’re using Starvation as a 
breed source for walleye in the northeast region waters. Basically they spawn a little bit 
later than they do in Willard Bay, and the problem is when we stuff larval fish into these 
northeast region’s waters, it’s often still a little bit colder than what Willard Bay was. 
Later fawning effort will more match the conditions we have out here. So that actually 
went really well and hopefully those fish will be treated to make them triploid walleyes 
and they will be stocked into Red Fleet reservoir. Pelican Lake has a number of activities 
that will be continuing on this year. We’re looking at putting some artificial reefs in some 
areas to help with erosion from wind events when the lake is low. That increases turbidity 
tremendously in Pelican Lake, so hopefully these structures will help. I think those are 
planned for the fall. In addition I think we actually transplanted a number of tiger 
muskies in the 20-inch range into Pelican Lake this spring to help us with common carpe 
and black bullhead control. Some of those species as the fishery has been restored have 
come along at the same rate as bass and bluegill and these tiger muskies will hopefully 
help us get those kinds of knock back. Of course tiger muskies are sterile, so as they start 
to go out of the picture bass and bluegill will be there to help control those larval fish 
from carpe or bullhead in the future. So that’s some good work going there.  

In law enforcement, the AIS decontamination station below Steinaker Reservoir is 
ready to go. We’ll be operating that this year. That will interdict boats that are headed not 
only to Steinaker and Red Fleet, but also Flaming Gorge. It will be a good central 
location to inspect boats and decontaminate them for AIS as they head north and we can 
do that in a consolidated area. We reported before at our last meeting that Sean Davis was 
retiring. He was our regional investigator, and he’s actually been replaced by Eric Miller, 
he’s our Roosevelt district CO. So he’s now our regional investigator. Law enforcement 
worked a number of illegal trapping cases throughout the winter, I think with people 
needing things to do, like it’s been all year. We haven’t still had a lot of people trapping 
despite…(inaudible) 

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you Miles. Any questions? Miles, on the bear 

cubs, were there new cubs in the dens? 
 
Miles Hanberg: Can you hear me? Just one last thing, the mountain goat 

viewing event up in Rock Creek went really well. It was held about a week ago 
and there were nearly 200 participants that showed up to Rock Creek to look at 
mountain goats, so that went really well this year as well. That’s the updates we 
have for this RAC meeting, and I’ll turn the time back over to you Brett.  

 



Page 5 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brett Prevedel: Sorry, I interrupted you, I had a little sound issue I guess. 
On the bear cubs, my question was were there young cubs with the bears? You 
mentioned the yearlings were missing. 

 
Miles Hanberg: Yeah, some of those bears that would have weaned 

yearlings last year, some of those did have cubs this year. But the cubs from last 
year didn’t survive and become yearlings this year.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Are there any other questions from the 

audience for Miles? Ok, I see Joe Arnold has joined us, would you introduce 
yourself please? May have a sound issue, Joe is a RAC member representing the 
public at large. I would like to recognize Randy Dearth and Donny Hunter from 
the Wildlife Board who have joined us. Thank you for joining. If there are no 
other questions for Miles, we’ll move on to the next item on the agenda. Which is 
the buck deer recommendations. Covy Jones is with us tonight, would you be 
willing to give us a very brief summary, Covy, as we go into this topic?  

 
00:18:16 5) Buck Deer Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 

                Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 
 
                      Presentations could be viewed at 

                 http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 
 

 
Covy Jones: I think Miles will do that, Mr. Chair, if that’s ok. 
 
Brett Prevedel: You bet.  
 

00:18:24 Electronic Public Comment Report (Informational) 
  Miles Hanberg, NERO Regional Supervisor 

 
Miles Hanberg: Sure, so I can give you an introduction in terms of what public 
feedback was. The public feedback, there was 18% of the public that strongly 
agreed with the Divisions recommendation. 54.5% somewhat agreed. 9% neither 
agreed nor disagreed. 9% strongly disagreed. 9% somewhat disagreed. So, in 
general majority of people agreed with the recommendations that the Division 
brought forward. So, to summarize some of those comments that came in from the 
public. We didn’t have a ton of them in the region that came in. Some of the 
things were that people actually did agree with our recommendations, they agreed 
with some of the tag cuts. There were other comments that felt like there should 
be more severe tag cuts as well. Another specific comment felt as if nonresidents 
should be cut in half before residents were cut. And another comment was 
reducing buck permits numbers wouldn’t necessarily make the herd grow. So 
those were comments that were specifically related to this RAC meeting agenda 
that we’re talking about. There were additional comments that were probably 
more applicable to our fall meeting, where we actually set season dates and hunt 
structures. Some of those comments ranged from cutting season date lengths, 
changing some of the dedicate hunter program requirements, as well as changing 

about:blank


Page 6 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

some buck/doe ratios for certain units, and expanding hunt units from the smaller 
units we’re managing now back to larger regional management strategy. Then 
finally there was one comment about implementing a point restriction rule. Those 
are things that are comments that came in but they really don’t apply to this 
meeting, they’d be more applicable to out fall meeting. That’s kind of a summary 
of what the public comment was and if there are any questions on the public 
comment, I can try to address those.  
 

Brett Prevedel: Thank you. In your RAC packet there is a chart, I guess 
we can just go through the buck recommendations first and then the antlerless. 
We don’t need to go through each unit, but the general season buck tags were 
reduced on the Uinta’s and South Slope Yellowstone, and SS Vernal slightly, and 
the recommendations on the west side of the Basin are consistent with prior years. 
Does anyone have any specific items they’d like to address on the general buck 
season? 

 
Conroy Reed: I do. When they do the recommendations for the buck 

permits do they consider any part of the tribe when they get their permits? 
 
Brett Prevedel: Miles, do you want to address that, or do you want to 

send that to someone else? 
 
Miles Hanberg: I’ll have Dax take a stab at that.  
 
Dax Mangus: I’m the regional wildlife program manager; and help me 

out Conroy if I don’t answer your question, or if I misunderstood. When we look 
at our deer populations and we model our populations and look at the buck to doe 
ratios, fawn to doe ratios and all of that, we do it for these entire management 
units and a lot of our management units include big blocks of tribal land. So we 
get the population demographics looking at the entire unit, we collect the survival 
data, I know that Randall Thacker who the biologist on the South Slope often 
coordinates with tribal members and works with Tribal Fish and Game law 
enforcement to recover collars if we have a mortality, so that survival data that we 
collect is collected across the entire unit for both tribe lands and non-tribe lands. 
The hunting that occurs on tribe lands, obviously that’s managed by the Tribe and 
we have coordination meetings annually where we’ll meet with Jamie Arrive the 
tribe biologist and talk about and share harvest data with on another, so all of 
those things are taken into account. Obviously the focus of most of what we’re 
talking about tonight are the public permits that are distributed throughout the 
state draw and there are exterior boundary permits for the limited entry permits 
that are issued by the Tribe, but as far as general season hunting the tribe has its 
own regulations and stuff on that on Tribal lands, and I think any tribal member 
can hunt general season deer on exterior boundary lands as well. All that data and 
landownership is taken into account when we make the recommendations. I don’t 
know if that answered your question or not, if you have a follow up for me, I’m 
happy to try and answer anything else.  

 



Page 7 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Conroy Reed: No I think you pretty much hit it. I just wanted to know as 
far as what they’re working with, and I wanted to make sure I’m in line because 
I’m new to this. So really I’m just trying to get a handle on what the agenda is as 
far as the tribe is concerned.  

 
Dax Mangus: Thank you, we do coordinate on everything and we’re 

always happy to do that. If you’ve got more follow up questions or anything like 
that we’re always happy to figure it out and make it work. I know talking to Miles 
the other day we have a meeting coming up here in a couple of weeks where we 
regularly coordinate, communicate, and share data and stuff. Thanks.  

 
Brett Prevedel: As a statewide summary, 2019 there was approx. 90,000 

general buck deer tags, 2020 it took a significant reduction down to about 80,000, 
and this year the recommendation is to go down approximately another 5,000 to 
just under 7,500. With these drought cycles the recommendations are going down 
with it, and we’re down considerably, about 20% if I did the math right in my 
head, then where we were 3-4 years ago when times were better. Does anyone 
have any other questions or do you want to address any specific units on the 
general bucks? 

 
Brad Horrocks: On the Manti unit how did their RAC vote on the Manti 

unit? 
Covy Jones: I can answer that Brad. So, there was a request to reduce 600 

permits on the Manti, and that request went to all the RACs I believe. They took 
action on that in the Southern and the Southeastern regions. The central region 
they chose not to take action, they listened to the request and choose not to take 
action. In the northern they listened to their request and made a motion that failed 
to get a second to take action on that. In the southern they took action and went 
with the recommendation to reduce the Manti permits by 600, with is from 8,100 
to 7,500. And the southeastern did as well. I guess a little background on that, the 
recommendation on the Manti is to stay status quo which is 8,100. The 
recommendation for 7,600 the fawn survival has been a little lower than what we 
anticipated when we made the recommendation. It’s still a good recommendation. 
Either recommendation would bring you inside the management plan; one is a 
little more conservative, and our recommendation is a little more generous. The 
cut of 600 is a little more conservative. But neither recommendation is outside the 
management plan. If that is something that your RAC choose to address, we 
would understand that.  
 

Brad Horrocks: I would like to make the comment that I was in the 
tractor and the guy called me on my cell phone, I can’t remember his name, but he 
must have been pretty persistent to call people asking for our support to lower that 
600 tags on the Manti, so I was just kind of curious. I didn’t have pen and paper to 
write down his name, and stuff like that, but I did keep that much in my mind. He 
talked a good story and I have to give him credit for. Its sounds to me like he 
made the rounds, who ever he was.  

 



Page 8 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brett Prevedel: Ok, any other questions? And we can sure entertain that 
in a motion a little bit later if you want, Brad. Any other questions on any of the 
other units? 

 
Dan Abeyta: I have more of a general question, kind of bigger picture 

question, so I’m not sure if this is the right time to ask this question. Is it ok to ask 
that kind of a question? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Sure.  
 
Dan Abeyta: It’s best directed towards Covy. Covy, I noticed in your 

presentation that one of the slides showed a statewide deer population objective of 
just under 405,000 deer statewide. It looks like for the most part that the data went 
back from 1992 to last year, so like 28 years worth of data there. It looked like 
that for the most part, the population estimate is right around 300,000 deer 
statewide. So I’m just wondering, has the state ever considered, it seems like it’s 
come up before, but has the state ever considered bringing that objective down to 
more of a number that is closer to obtain? It’s been almost three decades based on 
the slide that was in your presentation that it’s been far from the objective. What 
are your thoughts on that question? 

 
Covy Jones: So Dan, when we re-wrote the statewide deer plan in 2019, 

we went through the statewide deer population objective is just a summary of all 
the unit plans. So when we re-wrote that in 2019 we went through a lot of the 
objectives and made those exact recommendations. It actually was quite a bit 
higher before that. We asked all the biologist and regional managers to take a 
really hard look at what was obtainable on their units under better conditions. You 
know if we could get some better conditions and get our habitat work done, what 
can we obtain? And a lot of these units that’s pushing them a little bit, but if we 
push all of them a little bit we come up with a goal that’s pretty lofty and hard to 
obtain, but at the same time, I think it’s appropriate. It’s appropriate and we’re 
going to strive to make those gains and the gains we made from 2010 to 2015-16 
it was incredible. We were on our way. A lot of that was the habitat work that 
we’ve done, all of us all together, with combination with the right climate, right? 
So we’re doing the work and we just need the right climate. We’re not ready to 
back away from that 400,000 number yet.  

 
Dan Abeyta: Ok. Just curious Covy, you said you redid the statewide 

management deer plan again, what year did you say that was? 
 
Covy Jones: 2019 we re-wrote the plan. And Kent do you remember what 

the objective was? 
 
Kent Hersey: Yeah, I have those numbers, I was just going to give those 

to Dan. We were at 453,100 and we dropped that to the current 404 and change, 
Covy? 

 
Dan Abeyta: Ok.  



Page 9 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Kent Hersey: And to clarify on the numbers, you’re right when you go 

back to the early 90’s to about 2010 we were hovering about 300,000. But then 
we hit 2018 we were up to about 385,000. So we were starting to push 400,000 
and we maintained that for a few years, unfortunately the droughts through 2018-
present aren’t helping us one bit, we’re in that downturn. But I think we are still 
confident that 400,000 roughly is appropriate.  

 
Dan Abeyta: Ok thanks, I appreciate that answer.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Any other questions regarding the general buck 

recommendations? I’d like to roll into the antlerless deer and limited entry buck 
and try to do just one motion at the end, and if there are certain things we need to 
break out, we can do that. The antlerless deer recommendations, as we just talked, 
the population is somewhere around a little over 300,000 and the recommendation 
is less than 1,000 antlerless permits. As Covy mentioned in his presentation most 
of them are targeted at either residential problem deer, or agricultural problem 
deer. The one exception to that is probably the one here in our region where we 
have 200 tags recommended in that CWD hot spot around Myton, UT. And that is 
double of last year’s permit numbers. So it’s not a big number in the scope 
overall, but it is a recommended doubling of those tags. Is that accurate, the way I 
portrayed that Covy? 

 
Covy Jones: Yes, that’s accurate. If you wanted Dax or someone to speak 

to the data we got on that, or why we made that recommendation, the biologist 
wait for this all year. They love to speak at these meetings. So I’d hate to take 
away an opportunity from them. 

 
Brett Prevedel: Do we have results from last fall on the CWD testing in 

that area? Randall or Dax or whoever, could you address that? 
 
Randall Thacker: I’ll take that one, Brett. I’m the biologist for the South 

Slope and the majority of that hunt is in the SS, part of it is in the Anthro though. 
We did get the CWD data back so far we had about 10 CWD positives just this 
last year in that area. It increased our concern even more. I guess we’re worried 
about that hot spot down there in Pleasant Valley, Bridgeland and Arcadia area 
right there, the area surrounding Myton. Not a real concern about the level of 
CWD that is occurring there. The majority of the positives are still in bucks which 
is a common thing, but we want to reduce the deer density down there. We’ve got 
a lot of agricultural deer down there that are high numbers, high density of deer, 
the antlerless animals don’t get harvested hardly at all if we don’t have a hunt like 
this. So we’re trying to reduce the deer density down there, the number of deer in 
those areas to see if we can reduce the likelihood that those positive animals are 
going to spread that and have it go to surrounding areas in the unit. That’s really 
the intention of that hunt.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, thank you. Any questions for Randall while we’ve 

got him on the spot? Are there any other comments or questions regarding deer 



Page 10 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

antlerless recommendations? Ok, if not we will move forward into the limited 
entry buck deer permits. Has everyone had a chance to look at them? The Book 
Cliffs is usually one that comes up in our meeting here which is our biggest LE 
buck tag. The recommendation is a significant reduction overall from 375 in 2020 
to 264 this year; so nearly a third. South Slope Diamond Mountain is 
recommended to stay stable. There are some late season muzzleloader hunts. Do 
you have any question on that? Or does anyone want to address the Diamond 
Mountain recommendation? Ok. Any other questions on LE buck 
recommendation? Pretty quiet bunch tonight. Ok, I would entertain motions. Does 
anyone have any items that they would want to make a motion to adjust on 
general deer, antlerless deer, or limited entry? 

 
Brad Horrocks: Quite impressed with that guy that spent time to chase 

my phone number down. I would like to see us go with the recommendation, he 
seemed pretty passionate about that on the Manti to cut the 600 tags. It just 
seemed like he had done his homework on it. Everything else looked real good to 
me, and I have no problem with anything else. I guess I just felt like the guy had a 
good approach and was knowledgeable about that. So I’d like to see us make a 
motion with it and except everything else and go ahead and go with the 600 tag 
reduction on the Manti.  

 
Brett Prevedel: That would be the Central Mountains/Manti/San Rafael. 

The recommendation is 8,100 and your motion is to reduce that to 7,500. Correct, 
Brad? 

 
Brad Horrocks: Yes.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, any other individual items that anyone would like to 

address? 
 
Ritchie Anderson: Brett this is Ritchie, sorry I’m late getting on. I just 

have a question on the Manti. What’s the range trend showing, and what’s the 
body condition of the deer right now? 

 
Covy Jones: Range trend on the Manti, it really depends on where you 

are. Gordon Creek has struggled for a long time. Truth is the Manti has been more 
buffered from.. it still has been in drought, I don’t want to say it hasn’t been in 
drought, but that central course of the state between the Manti, Nebo, Wasatch 
portion of the state has all been buffered with it. So it’s not as bad as some of the 
other areas, it’s not as bad as the Book Cliffs. That said, fawn survival is down 
this year. Fawn/doe ratios are good, but fawn survival is lower than we 
anticipated for sure. Body condition, Kent do you want to speak on body 
condition on the Manti? 

 
Kent Hersey: Yes, so including the Central and the southeastern portions, 

we were running 8.97%. So right there at 9 which is the lower end. In 2019 we 
were at 11% so we’re down a couple percent. Which will have an impact. But the 



Page 11 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

lowest in the state we were down to 5%. So not as low as it could be, but not 
great.  

 
Ritchie Anderson: Ok, thank you.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, if there are no other specific recommendations, we 

have a motion from Brad to reduce the recommendation, or to recommend 7,500 
tags on the Central Mountains/Manti/San Rafael for general buck deer. Do we 
have a second? 

 
Ritchie Anderson: I’ll second that.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, we have a motion and a second. I guess we’ll deal 

with this one and then deal with the rest of the packed at presented. We’re voting 
on reducing the Manti tags right now.  

 
The following motion was made by Brad Horrocks, seconded by 
Ritchie Anderson.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones: Yes.  
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION: to reduce the Central Mountain/Manti/San Rafael unit 
tags from 8,100 to 7,500 for general season buck deer.   
 
Brett Prevedel: Now I would entertain a motion to accept the remainder 

of the remainder of the deer recommendations, general buck, antlerless, and 
limited entry recommendations.  

 



Page 12 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Natasha Hadden: I make a motion to accept the rest of the packet as 
presented by the Division of Wildlife.  

 
Dan Abeyta: I second Natasha’s motion.  
 
The following motion was made by Natasha Hadden, seconded by Dan 
Abeyta.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Now what are we actually trying to do here? The deer buck 

and everything else that was recommended? 
 
Brett Prevedel: This was the remainder of the deer recommendations. 

The general buck, limited entry buck, and antlerless recommendations. So all of 
the remaining deer.  

 
Conroy Reed: I abstain from it. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones: Yes. 
 
Motion passed 9 in favor, 1 abstained.  
 
MOTION: to accept the rest of the packet as presented by the 
Division of Wildlife.   
 
Brett Prevedel: Rebekah, why don’t you take a moment to introduce 

yourself and right after she’s done, Ritchie why don’t you do the same. 
 
Rebekah Jones: I represent non-consumptive users.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: I represent agriculture.  
 



Page 13 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Rebekah, were you here for the last two 
votes? 

 
Rebekah Jones: Just that last one and the reduction of 600 on the Manti.  
 
Brett Prevedel: The Manti and then the general packet. Are you a yes on 

both of them? 
 
Rebekah Jones: Yes, I am.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, we’ll move on to the next agenda item, which is the 

bull elk and buck pronghorn recommendations.  
  

  
00:45:43 6) Bull Elk and Buck Pronghorn Permit Recommendations for  

    2021 (Action) 
    Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Wildlife Manager 

   
      Presentations could be viewed at  
                            http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 

 
Brett Prevedel: Covy, would you mind taking a brief moment and just 

kind of summarize the four points that you’re recommending. Just the general big 
picture? 

 
Covy Jones: Absolutely. Let me bring this up really quick for myself. So 

in elk general season the Board added a few permits to the any bull general season 
hunt. General season any bull, those are set in the plan, and the Board went to 
1,750. Other adjustments, overall LE permits increased about 41 permits. The 
majority of that came from the new HAMS permits and the September archery. 
And we had an additional 158 of those from some units that we converted through 
the process in the fall. So there was an overall decrease in the traditional LE units. 
And some of those decreases I think affect the region ghat should be noted as a 
decrease in the roadless. There is a pretty strong sentiment when we evaluated this 
as a committee and an agency and took the recommendation through to reduce the 
age objective from the Little Creek Roadless area, it was met with some 
opposition. The Board recommended to leave that age objective alone. In order to 
manage to that age objective we’re recommending a significant decrease. Also a 
decrease on the rest of the Book Cliffs to meet the age objective. That’s overall in 
elk. In pronghorn, we’re managing that, we have for the last several years to an 
age objective now. And in most areas for pronghorn what that’s meant is a little 
more opportunity for pronghorn. Individual units have gone up and down, but 
overall a little more opportunity in pronghorn for the public and hunters.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. It’s kind of my perception that the pronghorn 

are doing pretty well through this drought cycle. Is that true? 
 

about:blank


Page 14 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Covy Jones: There have been some areas where they’re more impacted 
than others, Brett. So, some areas they’ve done well. Pronghorn can be really 
impacted by drought so it’s actually kind of surprising that they’ve weathered it as 
well as they have in some areas.  

 
Brett Prevedel: If I may add, the youth tags will not count toward the 

general any bull.. well not youth tags, but youth that buy a general any season bull 
will not count towards that 1,750 tags. 

 
Covy Jones: That’s a good catch, Brett, thank you for adding that.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Miles, will you take a moment and talk about the public 

comments on this topic? 
 
00:49:10 Electronic Public Comment Report by Miles Hanberg, NERO 

Regional Supervisor   
 

Miles Hanberg:  Yes. So regarding the bull elk and pronghorn 
recommendations, 12.5% of the public strongly agreed. 12.5% somewhat agreed. 
12.5% neither agreed nor disagreed. 50% somewhat disagreed. 12.5% strongly 
disagreed. As I reviewed those comments, some of the things didn’t necessarily 
completely relate to this recommendation cycle, but in general they were general 
season concerns. There were three comments that actually wanted to see a 
reduction in general season bull elk permits, and a couple that wanted to limit the 
archery tags which are now unlimited. There were a couple of comments along 
those lines. One other comment on elk was the antlerless control on the South 
Slope; I think we’ll probably talk about that more in a couple of topics when we 
get to antlerless. That was included in the bull elk comment section. And another 
comment that talked about getting rid of the multi season. Again, that’s not 
applicable to this recommendation cycle, but those are the comments we received. 
So anyway not a lot of feedback from the public on this one, but there were a 
couple of passionate people about cutting general season elk tags.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Does anyone want to start on any specific 

unit or have anything they want to discuss with the biologist in the region? 
 
00:50:58 Questions from RAC Members 
 

Brad Horrocks: On the roadless area down there, what’s going on down 
there? Is it habitat? It has a history of giving quite a few tags away and now it’s 
down to six. What’s happening? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Clint, are you with us tonight? 
 
Clint Sampson: Yes, I am. Can you hear me?  
 
Brett Prevedel: Yes, we can hear you good. Go ahead.  
 



Page 15 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Clint Sampson: Perfect. So Brad, the main issue there is just trying to 
meet to an age objective. We haven’t been able to meet that objective. The last 
three years we’ve averaged seven year old bulls in there and the objective we’re 
managing for is much higher than that, it’s 7.5-8. So, we’re just trying to find a 
way to increase the overall age of those bulls in that roadless area. We did 
recommend this last fall that we lower the age in the roadless to match the Bitter 
Creek side, the roaded area, and that didn’t go through. So, to maintain that higher 
age objective, we’ve got to cut permits.  

 
Brad Horrocks: It kind of looks like we went from 18… 20 down to six 

and I don’t have the previous past that. That seems like a drastic reduction. Did 
we really over harvest bulls last year, or has it been going on for 3-4 years? There 
has been a cycle of gradually the age limit just going down the last 3-4 years. 

 
Dax Mangus: I might speak to that just a little bit. Just the trend there, 

we’ve been cutting permits for five, six, seven years, and as we’ve cut permits the 
age is not going up. And like Clint mentioned it’s really the same elk population. 
The roadless can feel really big if you’re in there on foot or even on horseback, 
but for an elk it’s just a matter of a few hours, they can be on tribal area, in the 
roadless area and off the roadless; those elk move a lot. Especially those bulls 
during the rut when we’re doing the hunting. The elk move quite a bit and it’s 
really one elk population that’s really hard to manage it for a separate age 
objective in there. Even though we’ve cut permits, cut permits, cut permits over 
the last multiple years, the age has not gone up. Like Clint said, we recommended 
changing the age in the roadless to have it match the rest of the Book Cliffs, and 
the answer we got from the public process was no, find a way to manage for 
quality bulls in the roadless area even though it’s the same population. So instead 
of trying more of the same and making a gradual cut and seeing if the age 
changed; that obviously hasn’t worked the past five, six, seven years, we made a 
pretty aggressive cut and we’ll see if that can work. By really reducing those 
permits we can grow some older bulls, and the handful of folks that are able to 
draw a tag can be super selective and should be really great hunt if you’re one of 
the individuals lucky enough to draw a permit in there. But we’re not getting the 
results that we’ve been charged to get with the gradual cuts, so we’re making an 
aggressive one to try to get there.  

 
Brad Horrocks: Thank you. That makes sense, I guess. Thank you. 
 
Brett Prevedel: There was also an action last fall by the Wildlife Board to 

reduce the rifle spike hunt in the Book Cliffs by five days on the season, and I 
know that isn’t going to have any type of immediate impact on this issue, but 
there was a reduction. Well, I don’t know what that will do to harvest, but there 
was a reduction in the season.  

 
Ritchie Anderson: I’d like to just make a comment on the roadless area. I 

attended the LOA meeting requested by the landowners a few weeks ago with 
Dax there. One issue in the roadless is some of the water issues up on top of the 
ridges are really depleted. Those were established by ranchers’ years and year 



Page 16 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

ago. Where grazing is typically not allowed, there hasn’t been any ranchers in 
there maintain those facilities; the stock ponds and such. But in talking to Dax, I 
don’t know what the availability to improve those water sources were. A lot of 
that ground is owned by SITLA. I really think if we can get in there, the DWR or 
SITLA can work together and get some of those water resources on those ridges 
operating and opened back up, primarily on these dry years. A lot of times there is 
no water on those ridges anymore, those stock tanks are not holding water. If we 
could get in there and improve those and make them functional again, I think that 
would not only help draw elk back in to the roadless a bit, because there are a lot 
of habitat projects happening outside of the roadless, I think we need habitat 
projects inside the roadless, get some better distribution and maybe pull some of 
those elk back in there. That’s just my thought. I think it’s a possibility, and Dax 
indicated that people could probably go in there and improve those water features 
again and help that area. Thank you.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thanks, Ritchie. Also, in the Book Cliffs on the roaded 

area, the Bitter Creek South, the recommendation is to go from 125 last year to 
100 tags this year. South Slope Diamond Mountain there is an increase of about 
10% from 56 to 61. And I believe the other unit in our region is the North 
Slope/Three Corners where there is a slight reduction recommended from 28 
down to 25. Are there any other questions or comments on the LE bull elk? 

     
00:57:53 RAC discussion/Division Clarification and Motions 
 

Dan Abeyta: I just want to say, I fully support the move in the Book 
Cliffs. Not only for the bull elk, but also for the buck deer. I think this is 
something that is hard to do, but like I said I fully support. Those are pretty 
significant reductions in tags and I hope that if you don’t see the age increase in a 
year or two, if we stick with those reductions and not raise the tags, I just want to 
go on record and say I commend those reductions in the Book Cliffs for bull elk 
and deer.  

 
Brad Horrocks: I like the idea too that they’re trying the five day spike 

hunt there in the Book Cliffs. I think it shows the public that we’re trying some 
things and working forward on that. It’ll be interesting to see next year at this time 
to see what we feel like that did to the harvest.  

 
Joe Arnold: That’s one of my questions as well was if we’re reducing the 

limited entry, what are we doing about the spike tags? Is that an unlimited 
number, but reducing it to five days? Is that correct on the Book Cliffs? 

 
Covy Jones: I guess I’m not sure exactly how to answer that, Joe. It’s 

never really unlimited because there is a cap statewide. So it’s the proportion of 
hunters that hunt there within the reduced number of days. And really there are 
several issues going on in the Book Cliffs, what we’re doing is.. we just dumped 
resources in to one of the biggest neonate studies that we’ve ever done in the 
Book Cliffs over the last three years. What we’re learning is under current 
conditions, we’re nutritionally limited. And so the spike hunt is probably the last 



Page 17 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

thing we want to eliminate in the Book Cliffs if we care about big bulls. If we 
want to have big bulls and maintain big bulls out there, it just doesn’t make sense 
to pack more males than you need. We’re already bull heavy, male heavy on most 
of our units, which is by design. Our limited entry units have a lot of bulls, and we 
want that. The problems we’re running into on the Book Cliffs are nutritional 
limitations, which we’re working hard to address. We just need the climate to 
help out as well. And we’ll continue working on it, I know Brett you’re a part of 
that working group, right?  A lot of folks on here are.  We’re doing a lot of things 
in the Book Cliffs.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Yes and Ritchie, water developments are a big part of 

that process. And SITLA is very active. I’m not exactly sure if the ones you 
mentioned are on the list, but we can sure look at that because that’s one of the 
major topic in that group is to look into not only water for the wildlife, but to 
disperse the livestock. I forgot one other former limited entry area that I’ll bring 
up, Nine Mile Anthro. If you’ll remember the Wildlife Board switched the hunt 
strategy to a HAMS hunt. And this is a new hunt and there are 20 archery tags, 
and 20 archery, muzzleloader, and shotgun. So the number that is being 
recommended is 40 tags total on the Anthro unit. Any other questions on bull elk? 
Conroy? 

 
Conroy Reed: I was asking about the nutritional plan as far as the Book 

Cliffs. Are you contacting the Tribe to see if they can actually help out with some 
of that stuff? Or is that something you have actually considered because some of 
the Tribal land is down there? Is that something that you could think about, 
maybe, so you wouldn’t have to bear the burden of that because there is Tribal 
land down there. It would probably make sense to try and include the Tribe in 
some of that nutritional/water, you know, and them trying to assist you with that.  

 
Brett Prevedel: The Tribe is represented on the Book Cliffs working 

group. I know they’ve been very active on the feral horse issue. It’s a major factor 
on the forage access on the Book Cliffs. So we’ve had very good support from the 
Tribe.  

 
Conroy Reed: Ok, I just wanted to see. You know, like I said I’m new 

here and I’m trying to get all the information that I can on this. But for the most 
part the Tribe is willing to help as long as there is good communication between 
the state and the tribe and any other entities that are involved in this.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. And we know all the species move back and 

forth between the jurisdictions out there, and the tribe has been very active in this 
initiative up to this point.  

 
Miles Hanberg: Mr. Chair, if I maybe could just for a minute. We 

actually do have a summary of a lot of the activities that have gone on in the Book 
Cliff working group. If it’s acceptable to this RAC we could probably present an 
update in one of the next couple of RAC meetings, just to give RAC members 
here a better idea of what’s been done. A lot of pond cleaning and guzzlers in and 



Page 18 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

out of roadless. There’s been quite a few things that have been done, and we need 
to do more and keep going. There has been some good progress made, so it’s 
something we need to continue to work on. If that’s something the RAC would 
like, we certainly could give an updated presentation here in the next couple of 
meetings.  

 
Brad Horrocks: Miles, I’d like to have that, just because if you don’t toot 

your own horn and what’s going on, some of us don’t know about it. So I think 
it’s good as we go along a little bit, and updates and what’s going on. I would like 
to hear Miles, just you know get more educated about it and it helps us give 
answers to the public and stuff too.  

 
Miles Hanberg: Let’s plan on the next RAC meeting, probably during the 

regional supervisor update we’ll give a little more detailed updated on what 
activities have gone on in the Book Cliff working group and we’ll plan on that.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you, Miles. Are there any other questions related 

to bull elk recommendations? 
 
Daniel Davis: I have some questions. Covy, could you share with us the 

impregnation rate for the cows this year in the Book Cliffs during the collar 
study? 

 
Covy Jones: Yeah, Daniel. Do you care if I go back the last three years, is 

that ok? 
 
Daniel Davis: Absolutely, that would be great. 
 
Covy Jones: So three years ago when we sampled the Book Cliffs it was 

highly concerning. It was just above 53% of the cows that were pregnant that 
year. And that was a really dry year, came off a drought. We come back out off a 
really wet year, and we are back up at I believe 86% which is something I think 
we see consistently across the state. That’s a good pregnancy rate for cow elk. We 
came back off that wet year and to a dry year again and dropped back down into 
just above the 50% range. One of the interesting things was that none of the cows 
that packed a calf last year and successfully had a calf, none of those cows are 
pregnant again this year. It’s really multiple problems; one, that population is just 
struggling because of the environmental conditions and it’s aging. So we also 
took teeth from the harvested animals on the Book Cliffs, and Dax could probably 
talk about this a little more, I think it’s an important part of this story. We drop 
back down to the 50 percentile and I know the average age of harvest inside the 
roadless is ten, and the average age of the rest of the Book Cliffs also super high. 
Our cows are three and four years older on average than they are in any other 
units that are harvesting cow elk across the state. So, we’re seeing a problem 
where it’s one of the only populations that we’ve studied across the state and 
we’re bumping up against a carrying capacity with elk. Dax and Clint, I want to 
make sure I don’t miss anything. Is there anything else you’d add to that, that may 



Page 19 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

be important to Daniel as he’s asking to pregnancy rates and body conditions 
there. 

 
Dax Mangus: I think you hit a lot of it. I think just one of the main points 

is this goes across all species in the Book Cliffs, it’s not just elk, it’s not just deer. 
The Book Cliffs working group, Brett helped a lot there, we did a forage analysis 
and looked especially at the summer range in the Book Cliffs which is a limiting 
factor, and we basically determined that we don’t have enough feed for the 
animals that are there, both wild and domestic, feral or stray or whatever else. We 
don’t have enough feed for everything that is there unless we have a perfect year 
with perfect conditions, and it’s been a long time since we’ve had a perfect year 
with perfect conditions. So stuff is struggling across the board. And all the 
different data, all the different metrics collected is backing up and validating that. 
Poor body conditions, poor pregnancy rates, poor survival, poor recruitment of 
neonates into the population. It’s just across the Board. We’re up against a 
resource limitation. We’re hitting a carrying capacity that has been diminished 
because of bad weather patterns, drought conditions and that sort of thing.  

 
Daniel Davis: Thank you. What time of the year are you guys actually 

ultrasound the cows to determine pregnancy? 
 
Covy Jones: Kent, do you want to talk about the timing of that? 
 
Kent Hersey: It’s the last week in February. We had a sample from this 

year. We wanted to get 30 pregnant cows, that was our goal and it took us 58 
animals caught to get that. The other thing, with our veterinarians out there  as 
well it’s obvious on the ultrasound at that time, but even if we did think we 
missed it, we do take blood from the animals, so we run the blood samples and 
confirm it and also can do some palpation rectally.  

 
Daniel Davis: My question would be, I guess, is understanding animal 

nutrition and the fact that their body conditions aren’t the greatest, there are times 
that they won’t conceive or carry full term on some pregnancy. But at that time, 
they’re diminished a little bit, but the statement was made that we have an 
abundance of male population out there, but are there areas in the Book Cliffs 
where the male population isn’t present? It’s a pretty diverse area, has it been 
considered that maybe a higher bull to cow ratio is subjective? I know we don’t 
manage to that and it’s a lot of age objective information. But more some of these 
studies start to come out and the information comes about from the landowner 
perspective and how they’re running the livestock in the area as well it seems 
pretty consistent across the board that it takes a little higher bull to cow ratio.  

 
Kent Hersey: Are you wondering if there are not enough bulls to 

impregnate all the cows?  
 
Daniel Davis: Well, that was the statement that was made, so I wanted to 

question that. The statement was made that we have an abundance of males, but 
our pregnancy rates are so low.  



Page 20 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Kent Hersey: So I think it’s just the cows aren’t coming into distress. And 

the reason I would point to that is we have three years of data with essentially the 
same bull data each year, so we can assume the same bull to cow ratio each year 
as well. We went from 50% to 86% to 50%, so it doesn’t appear that the number 
of bulls have anything to do with it. Additionally on the units that are managed 
also with spike hunting and actually at a lower age on the Wasatch was 
consistently in the upper 80’s over four years of that study. There is no data to 
support that. It seems like it is more of a nutritional limitation, an age limitation, 
but I don’t see any data to support that they are not getting pregnant.  

 
Covy Jones: And Daniel, in addition to that there is some research out 

there on bulls per hundred cows in elk. And It’s been a while since I’ve read this, 
but I was amazed in wild populations how low your bull count needed to be, it 
was lower than deer, how low they could be and still have the ability to fertilize 
all the cows. So don’t hold me to this, and I understand we’re in a live public 
meeting, but the number was like two bulls per 100 cows was sufficient in the elk 
population they were studying.  

 
Daniel Davis: Sure, that’s understandable and it seems more consistent as 

long as being a part of these studies as well and representing some of these 
organizations in these studies, that it seems to be the Book Cliffs to be a beast of 
their own. We can look at a lot of studies across the western United States, but 
consistencies that we see out there and some of the impacts don’t seem to always 
line up. We’ve seen some of that over time. If anyone can recall, sportsmen came 
forward and we asked for permit reductions years ago. Due to drought a lot of 
folks didn’t think it was necessary and we needed to take the males off the 
landscape. Now we’re kind of behind the curve ball and we’re advocating to 
remove tags in large numbers. So it’s a good move it’s finally happening but it 
sucks to see that much at one time rather than a progressive trend.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you.  
 
Daniel Davis: I have one more question Mr. Chair, are we going to 

address the youth permits separate from the LE bulls? 
 
Brett Prevedel: The draw statewide youth hunt. Is that the one you’re 

referring to? 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes sir.  
 
Brett Prevedel: I had missed that in the recommendation, it is to stay 

stable at 500 tags statewide. And I believe that’s open to.. is that any bull area or 
is that all the any bull and spike areas that they can hunt? 

 
Covy Jones: Those are in the general season any bull areas.  
 



Page 21 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brett Prevedel: Ok, so the recommendation is to stay stable at 500 tags, 
Daniels. And then as I mentioned earlier the youth do not count against the 1,750 
new cap on the general any bull tags. So I guess you could say that there might be 
some extra youth any bull tags over the counter available. What was your 
question on that, or do you want the DWR to address anything on that, Daniel? 

 
Daniel Davis: Yes, I do have a question on that. By rule like on any LE 

we have, percentage ratios on what’s allowed the nonresidents. Is it against, and 
I’m not going to throw any word out there because I don’t want it to become legal 
or anything like that, but is it against any kind of program or policy if we were to 
add permits and make them resident only, only applicable permits, does that go 
against any rule, does that have to go to the legislature to be changed? Could 
somebody answer that for me? 

 
Covy Jones: Yeah, I think I can answer that for you, Daniel. And the 

answer is we’ve allocated that 10% to nonresidents, at one time it was a part of a 
commerce clause I think, and I’m not an attorney so I can’t go into that. As far as 
having to offer nonresident opportunity, I believe that… there is not that concern, 
it more goes into being a good neighbor I guess. I’ve been asked this in several 
RACs, where are we at in terms of what we offer to nonresidents? We’re not the 
highest, we’re not the lowest. When I attend meetings with Colorado 
commissioners, they’ve let me know how they feel before. They’ve said, hey 
Utah step it up. We give your hunters a lot of our permits and we expect you to be 
fair in return. And we’ve said, well, we feel pretty good with where we are. We’re 
not the highest, not the lowest, we’re about on average about 10% and we’re 
comfortable with that and we feel like we’re playing nice. I don’t know if our 
attorney is on here, but Greg or Justin if you want to answer on that, but I don’t 
believe there is any legal implications on that. 

 
Brett Prevedel: And we’d just be making recommendations to the 

Wildlife Board anyway, so if it was an issue… If you had a recommendation they 
could address it legally when it got to them. The current recommendation is 450 
resident tags for the youth any bull and 50 nonresidents for a total of 500.  

 
Justin Shannon: Mr. Chair could I weigh in on that real quick? I think 

where the draw has already occurred and we’ve had non-residents already apply 
for these permits, we would need to have some type of permit available for the 
nonresident. We can’t have a draw with applicants and not have a permit available 
for it.  

 
Daniel Davis: Absolutely Justin, I was more seeking clarification if there 

was an addition of permits, if more had to be allocated. Or an increase of permits 
if there was any legality issue or a rule that had to be followed by a specific 
amount to nonresidents is all. Not to take away. Sorry.  

 
Justin Shannon: No, I think that’s on me. I think I misunderstood. 

Appreciate it.  
 



Page 22 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brett Prevedel: Any other discussion related to bull elk? Ok, does anyone 
have a desire to deviate from the recommendations and make a motion? 

 
Daniel Davis: I do, Mr. Chair. I’d like to address the youth bull elk tags. 

So there was a lot of discussion last fall if I may give a little dialog as to why. 
There was a lot of discussion last fall when a lot of the restructuring was taking 
place and the new hunt structure for the archery season, and extending that 
archery season hunt and realizing the same amount of permits the youth are 
awarded for that same time frame that’s now opened up to the public at an 
unlimited rate. Out of fairness and equality I feel it important to provide some 
more opportunity for those youth during that time frame as well.  I would like to 
make a motion on the youth limited entry bull elk hunt that the permits be 
increased by 250 and those be made resident only youth.  

 
Brett Prevedel: From 450 to 700 resident tags is the motion, I believe?  
 
Daniel Davis: with the 50 remaining as nonresident tags, that is correct.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Alright, we have a motion to increase the youth limited 

entry tags, which is a draw tag for resident youth by 250 tags. Do I have a 
second? Ok, not hearing any. Are there any other motions regarding bull elk? 

 
Joe Arnold: I’m sorry I was trying to get on there, I’ll second Daniels 

motion, I think we need more opportunity for youth.  
 
Brett Prevedel: That motion is seconded by Joe Arnold, and we will now 

vote on increasing the youth draw bull elk tags for residents from 450 to 700.  
 
The following motion was made by Daniel Davis, seconded by Joe 
Arnold. 
 
Dan Abeyta: No. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: No. 
 
Brad Horrocks: No. 
 
Mike Smith: No. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: No. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: No. 



Page 23 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Rebekah Jones: No. 
 
Motion failed 3 in favor, 7 opposed.  
 
MOTION: to increase the amount of youth limited entry any bull 
resident tags from 450 to 700.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Motion fails, three for, seven against. Thank you. Do we 

have any other specific motions regarding bull elk? 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes, Mr. Chair. I would like to address the HAMS hunt on 

the Nine Mile/Anthro.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, go ahead. 
 
Daniel Davis: Those permit numbers for a quick clarification were 40 for 

the September hunt and 40 for the October hunt. Is that correct?  
 
Brett Prevedel: I don’t believe so. I believe it was 20 and 20 for a total of 

40. 
 
Joe Arnold: 18+2 in archery for a total of 20, and the HAMS is 18 + 2 for 

a total of 20. A total of 40 all together it looks like to me.  
 
Brett Prevedel: That’s correct.  
 
Daniel Davis: Sorry, that’s why 40 stood out so much. It was the 

combined, I apologize.  
 
Joe Arnold: Also, on there it shows nothing for 2020 permits. Could we 

understand what the Nine Mile/Anthro was last year? Even though it was a 
limited entry so there was no archery or HAMS. What were the permit numbers 
last year on the Nine Mile/Anthro? 

 
Covy Jones: Derrick, do you have that? I believe it was 38 or 36? I can 

look it up really quick if Derrick doesn’t have it.  
 
Dax Mangus: We’ll look it up really quick. I think Derrick couldn’t make 

it tonight. We’ll look it up really quick. 
 
Joe Arnold: Sorry to jump in Daniel.  
 
Daniel Davis: No, that’s ok. I appreciate it.  
 
Brett Prevedel: While they’re looking up that number, are there any other 

specific issues anyone wants to address to deviate from the recommendations for 
bull elk? Ok. We’ll get that number and then we’ll proceed.  



Page 24 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Daniel Davis: While that number is being brought up the reason I wanted 

to address that, could somebody also share the success rates on those? I know 
those, I’ve looked them up myself to see what the previous hunt structures success 
rates were. Is that something in the meantime we can share as well? Or is that 
more to come? 

 
Covy Jones: Yeah, Kent will you get on success rates, is that ok please? 
 
Kent Hersey: I was looking up the other thing that will take a minute for 

these now.  
 
Dax Mangus: Last year on Nine Mile/Anthro there were nine archery 

tags, there were eight early rifle tags, there were eight late rifle tags, five 
muzzleloader tags, and one multi season. Anybody add those up? 

 
Dan Abeyta: 31. 
 
Covy Jones: Yeah, 31. And I think it’s important too, Daniel I’ll just 

answer this, when we asked to look at units that weren’t working well as LE units; 
the Divisions recommendation on Nine Mile/Anthro was to go general season. 
When we looked at the fluctuation of age and just the difficulty managing the 
unit, but the public sentiment was a little bit different. It felt that it may fit better 
into this new structure of September archery and October, November HAMS. 
And the philosophy behind that was to actually be able to provide more 
opportunity, understanding that it could be more difficult it could be tough, 
obviously you’re restricted on weapon type, and you could draw a tag more 
frequently.  

 
Kent Hersey: For success rates I’m showing 63% for rifle, 80% for 

muzzleloader, and 11% for archery. That was 2020 successes.  
 
Daniel Davis: Thank you Kent, I appreciate you guys doing that. With 

that information I make a motion that we increase those permits by five for the 
September hunt and for the remainder hunt in October to a total of 50 overall.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Increase five and five or ten for a total of 50? 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes sir.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok. We have a motion from Daniel to increase the tags 

on the Anthro/Nine Mile HAMS hunt by ten tags, for a total of 50. Do we have a 
second? 

 
Joe Arnold: Let me clarify, it was at five for archery and five for HAMS? 
 
Brett Prevedel: That’s correct.  
 



Page 25 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Dan Abeyta: I’ll second that motion.  
 
Brett Prevedel: We have a motion and a second. Let’s take a vote. 
 
The following motion was made by Daniel Davis, seconded by Dan 
Abeyta.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: No. 
 
Brad Horrocks: No. 
 
Mike Smith: No. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: No. 
 
Conroy Reed: No. 
 
Joe Arnold: No.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: No. 
 
Rebekah Jones: No.  
 
Motion failed 2 in favor, 8 opposed.   
 
MOTION: to increase the tags on the Nine Mile/Anthro hunt for five 
tags on archery and five tags on HAMS for a new total of 50 tags.   
 
Brett Prevedel: Motion fails 2-8. Any other specific motions regarding 

bull elk? If there are none I would entertain a motion for the remainder of the 
packet on bull elk. 

 
Natasha Hadden: I would like to make a motion to accept the remainder 

of the elk packet as presented by the DWR. 
 
Brad Horrocks: I’d second that.  
 
The following motion was made by Natasha Hadden, seconded by 
Brad Horrocks.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 



Page 26 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: No. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: No.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones: Yes. 
 
Motion passed 8 in favor, 2 opposed.  
 
MOTION: to approve the remainder of the Divisions presentation as 
presented.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, motion passes 8-2.  

 
01:31:50 8) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 
      Covy Jones, Big Game Coordinator and Regional Administrator 
  

Presentations could be viewed at  
   http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 
 

Brett Prevedel: We’ll move on to elk antlerless and the general 
recommendations statewide are fairly stable from about 9,200 last year to about 
8,900 this year. If anyone has any units they want to discuss or out of the area, I’ll 
briefly go through our units. North Slope/Summit is recommended to be reduced 
from 150 to 100. West Daggett is recommended to stay stable at 40. North 
Slope/Three Corners does not have any cow tags. South Slope Yellowstone, the 
big change there is the recommendation is to eliminate the control tags, and with 
that increase the draw tags. So it looks like there is a significant increase on draw 
tags from 150 to 625, but at the same time the control tags were eliminated, and 
there are private lands tags on that unit also. South Slope Diamond 
Mountain/Bonanza/Vernal slightly down on antlerless permits from 750 to 630, 
and in increase on private lands tags from 450 to 650; though I believe there was a 
smaller boundary on those private lands tags to exclude the Diamond Mountain 
portion.  

 
Dax Mangus: Hey Brett, can I just pipe in on that one to make sure we’re 

all on the same page here? So the 450 is how many of the private lands tags that 
have been being issued for the Vernal/Bonanza, those two subunits combined and 
then we’re recommending adding 200 more that will just be for Diamond 

about:blank


Page 27 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Mountain. So there would be a quota of 200 more permits that would only be 
valid on Diamond Mountain, and then that existing 450 that’s been on the 
Bonanza/Vernal would continue on the same level. Just to clarify.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you for correcting me on that, because I was 

confused, obviously. The Book Cliffs last year there were 150 tags, this year 
they’re recommending 255. I don’t believe the recommendation was changed; it 
was just reduced at the Wildlife Board based on a motion last year. So the 
recommendation is to increase tags but I think it was consistent with last years 
recommendation. And then Nine Mile/Anthro 500 last year and 500 again this 
year and 200 private lands tags consistent. Wasatch Mountains/Avintaquin they’re 
recommending a 50 tag increase from 100 to 150. And I believe that takes care of 
all of them in our region, but you are welcome to look at the chart and ask 
questions about any others. Are there any comments on this recommendation?  

 
Dan Abeyta: I just want to get a little clarification here. Was it 600 

control tags on the Yellowstone unit, they’ve been shifted to what Dax? Are they 
private lands only, are they draw tags? What are they? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Randall is on, let’s let Randall address that. There was 

not a limit on the control tags though, Dan.  
 
Randall Thacker: Yes, the control tags were unlimited essentially, but 

that’s for multiple units. There were six units at least last year in the state that had 
antlerless control permits so you could buy that permit and use it in any of those 
units if you already had a bull elk tag for that same unit, or a buck deer tag for that 
unit you could then harvest an antlerless elk while you were there with your other 
hunt, during your hunt. There have been quite a few of those, we’ve been up to 
17,000 at times being utilized on SS Yellowstone, some years of course less than 
that. But the success rates on that are not near as high either, the success rates are 
in the teens usually. But there was a lot of concern on that one that we were 
having so much pressure on the cow elk on the unit even prior to the rifle hunt 
that even more of the animals are pushing down to the tribal lands south and were 
being unavailable to our general public. There is much less general hunting 
pressure on the Tribe lands at that time of year, so hitting them hard on the Forest 
that time of year, we think was helping contribute to why so many of the elk left 
before the rifle hunt. So this is an attempt to back off on some of that pressure in 
the archery hunt and the muzzleloader deer hunt where some of that was 
happening before that was helping push the elk down even earlier on the Tribal 
lands. And they go down there eventually for the winter, but we want to keep as 
many as possible on the Forest for opportunities. So what we’ve done is switch 
that, the recommendation is to put more, we’ll still have some limited entry 
permits during that rifle hunt, and then during the muzzleloader elk hunt which is 
later, the last hunt we really have out there during general season hunts with some 
hunting pressure there later to still get the hunting pressure we need. That unit is 
over objective and has been for years, but also it has been maintaining now for six 
years at about that steady level. We do need to get antlerless harvest so that’s 
where we shifted it is to those limited entry hunts hoping that in the past when 



Page 28 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

we’ve had those hunts they’ve had double the success rate of the antlerless control 
permits. Does that answer your question? 

 
Dan Abeyta: Yes it does, Thank you Randall. I do have a follow up 

question, on the 200 private lands only cow elk tags for Diamond Mountain. Are 
those a new thing like over above last years quota? Or is that a shift from 
something else? 

 
Amy Vande Voort: I’m the biologist for Diamond. In the past we’ve been 

issuing depredation vouchers to the LOA, this is an attempt to streamline the 
process so they’re still getting the pressure of the private land without going 
through all the steps of the depredation program.  

 
Dax Mangus: Basically these private lands only permits will take the 

place of those depredation permits that have been issued to the LOA in the past. 
They’ll continue to have the proclamation draw permits like we’ve had in the 
past. The majority or a lot of folks that draw those end up hunting them on private 
lands. I think most of our antlerless pressure on the private lands used to come 
from those private lands depredation permits and these private lands only permits 
will kind of take the place of those depredation permits.  

 
Dan Abeyta: Ok, so it really just sounds like this is making it easier 

administratively. Is that what I’m hearing?  
 
Dax Mangus: It gives a little more flexibility to the landowners on 

Diamond Mountain to address if certain landowners are really overwhelmed with 
antlerless elk on their individual properties it gives them a little more flexibility. 
In the past the organization would distribute those antlerless permits and some 
landowners would end up with a lot of elk on them and not enough permits and 
other landowners would end up with not as many elk and extra permits. So I think 
it maybe just streamlines that process. So in a way you could say helps with 
administration. I think it doesn’t just help the Division; it also helps Diamond 
Mountain landowners a little as well. I hope it does at least.  

 
Brad Horrocks: I haven’t heard of anything but support in doing it this 

way from LOA. I think it’s a good deal, I spoke to three of them and I think this is 
a good deal.  

 
Brett Prevedel: I will add that the private lands tags all across the SS 

have been very successful. They’re getting the numbers they want as far as 
keeping the herd objective stable. And the success rate is significantly better than 
the control tags. Initially I was one that had a lot of concern about the private 
lands tags, but as I’ve watched it evolve I think the Division has done really well 
with these private lands tags with addressing depredation issues in a fairly simple 
way.  

 



Page 29 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Dan Abeyta: I do have one more follow up question. So the private 
landowners on Diamond Mountain can set the fee for accessing that private land 
as they see fit, correct? 

 
Amy Vande Voort: Yes they can. Just like they used to be able to sell the 

vouchers for what they wanted for a trespass fees.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Ok. Thank you.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Are there any other questions regarding antlerless elk? 

Are there any motions regarding any deviations from the recommendations? 
 
Daniel Davis: I have one question Mr. Chair. So on the Nine Mile/Anthro 

consistently we have a harvest objective of 500 and the 200 private land. Why 
such a high number on those cow permits? 

 
Dax Mangus: Maybe I can answer this, Derrick isn’t available tonight. So 

the population objective, the goal on the Nine Mile/Anthro is 700 elk. We’re 
consistently over that number, so we issue quite a few antlerless permits to try to 
manage towards that objective. Success rate varies year to year, but a lot of years 
it’s fairly low. We did some collar study on elk in Anthro a few years back and it 
was really interesting to see that in summer months when access was good to the 
top, they spent a lot of time in low elevations on Tribal lands in the thick pinion, 
Juniper woodlands. Then in the winter as we got snow and kind of started 
blocking off access to the roads to the higher elevations a lot of those elk moved. 
So they kind of did the opposite of what you’d think. They spent the summer in 
the desert and the winter at the top of the mountain. But it really had to do with 
avoiding people and going where the access wasn’t. So success rate on the Anthro 
late cow hunts isn’t great. We’ve documented a lot of movement between the 
Avintaquin unit and the Anthro unit, those elk move back and forth. So it’s kind 
of tricky and that’s why a lot of those elk hunts are set for later in the year, 
because we’re managing for a wintering population objective, and we get a lot of 
animals that come into the unit later in the year from Anthro, but it depends 
sometimes on the year. Permit numbers on Anthro have stayed about the same the 
last few years, success rate is a little low, but it seems to be working. That’s kind 
of the basis behind that recommendation. It’s trying to manage to objective and 
try to take into account that we typically have fairly low success, that’s why we 
issue so many.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Randall, would you like to comment on that? 
 
Randall Thacker: Yes, just to make one additional point on that, Daniel, 

if you notice those permits, 250 of them in the late hunt are actually the West 
Anthro/Avintaquin. That’s both units and the Avintaquin subunit of the Wasatch 
is included in that hunt with it. It really is kind of a technicality that we put them 
all into the unit with the Anthro unit. We could have just as easily put them in the 
Avintaquin and say there was 250 more there and that would make it look like 
there was only 250 on the Anthro. It’s just kind of how the naming and trying to 



Page 30 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

be consistent with how we name those permits, but half of those tags can hunt the 
Avintaquin too which is actually larger than the West Anthro portion. So it’s 
actually not as much hunting pressure there as you would think, assuming that 
they’re all on Anthro.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Miles, you mentioned earlier that there were some 

comments specific to antlerless elk. Do you have that available? 
 
01:46:45 Electronic Public Comment Report (Informational) 

  Miles Hanberg, NERO Regional Supervisor 
 

Miles Hanberg: There were just two comments. The one comment was 
pretty close to what Daniel just brought up. They were commenting and thinking 
it was a lot of permits for Anthro. Then the other comment was questioning the 
cow elk permits in the Book Cliffs. So that was the two. But no other feedback, 
other than there was one comment about the antlerless control permits, and I think 
their concern was they had applied for a deer tag or something on the Yellowstone 
unit and then this process is coming after that and the if the Board approves the 
antlerless control recommendation the antlerless control will be eliminated. So 
that was their concern.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Yes, that’s accurate, I spoke to… they were dedicated 

hunters that were taking advantage of being able to hunt elk during dedicated 
hunter seasons, and had already put into those tags and they felt like the timing 
wasn’t fair to them.  

 
Ritchie Anderson: Just for the Book Cliff cow elk tags, could you just 

clarify your reasoning behind that? I’ve had a few people hit me up about that and 
I’m ok with the recommendation, but could you just clarify why you 
recommended the antlerless tags you did in the Book Cliffs? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Clint, could you address that please? 
 
Clint Sampson: You bet. Like we’ve talked about already, the overall age 

of the elk in the Book Cliffs that we found out from these last seasons of harvest 
is higher than what we usually see, especially in the Roadless. If you look at our 
overall population and how many cow elk we’re harvesting on the unit, it’s not 
going to drive the population into the ground. The idea behind it is to maybe jump 
start the population, maybe lower and kill some of these older cows that are 
competing potentially with younger cows that have the potential for production. 
And you can come back and say that most hunters don’t want to kill gummers out 
there on the landscape, they’re after some nice plump yearling/two year old cow, 
but in all reality a lot of hunters are just willing to shoot what is in front of them 
and are opportunistic when it comes to cow hunting. So that’s kind of the 
reasoning behind it, we’re not trying to drive the population lower, just curious to 
see if we can lower that age and try to make the herd more productive, more 
healthy.  

 



Page 31 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Ritchie Anderson: Ok, thank you. I appreciate it.  
 
Brett Prevedel: I think it’s kind of ironic that we have a lot of debate, and 

it’s good to debate, about the Book Cliffs. But recommending 255 tags for a herd 
of 5,500 elk, I don’t know what the percentage is there, but very low. Whereas on 
the SS Yellowstone we were just having this discussion, there are approx. 3,000 
tags on a herd of 7,400. And I understand they have the Tribal land issue to hide 
on. But that herd stays stable with like a 40% of the population out in antlerless 
tags. So it just kind of highlights the difference in the Book Cliffs where it 
struggles and maybe where they have a little better condition. Just my two cents 
worth. Are there any motions that would deviate from the Divisions 
recommendations for antlerless cow elk? Ok, if not I would take a motion for the 
packet as presented.  

 
Dan Abeyta: I will make a motion that we accept the packed as it’s been 

presented for antlerless elk. 
 
Natasha Hadden: I’ll second that.  
 
The following motion was made by Dan Abeyta, seconded by Natasha 
Hadden.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: No. 
 
Joe Arnold: No.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones: Yes. 
 
Motion passed 8 in favor, 2 opposed.  
 
MOTION: to approve the presentation as presented by the Division.   
 
Brett Prevedel: Motion passes 8-2.  
 



Page 32 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
01:52:13 7) Once-In-A-Lifetime Permit Recommendations for 2021 (Action) 

Riley Peck, OIAL Species Coordinator and Regional Wildlife 
Manager 

 
Presentations could be viewed at  

   http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 
 
 

Brett Prevedel: Ok, next on the agenda, will be the OIAL permit 
recommendations for 2021. Who from the Division… Let’s see.  

 
Covy Jones: Brett, we’re going in a little bit of a different order tonight, I 

want to make sure we don’t miss anything. You’re right we still need to address 
OIAL. I don’t feel like we had a vote on doe pronghorn recommendations. That 
was with the rest of the antlerless recommendations. And I’m trying to understand 
it, did the RAC intend to include the antlerless deer recommendations when we 
talked about deer? And if we did then that’s fine. 

 
Brett Prevedel: The antlerless antelope when we did deer, was that was it 

was? 
 
Dan Abeyta: I thought that we covered the antlerless deer a couple of 

agenda items back. We talked about the chronic wasting, and how there were a 
couple 200 tags extra for that on the Nine Mile/Anthro with the Myton CWD hot 
spot.  

 
Covy Jones: Ok, and if the RAC feels like that motion vote covered it, I 

just want to document that that was what that vote was. And we still haven’t 
addressed antlerless pronghorn permits, and we do need to address those.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you Covy, I forgot the antlerless pronghorn. 

Where is that table in the packet? Is it in right with the deer?  
 
Covy Jones: Yes, it was in with the antlerless.  
 
Daniel Davis: Would it be more appropriate at this point where we 

lumped deer and elk with each motion item to maybe continue based on that 
realm with each species? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Yes, I think that would be… especially now that I’ve 

kind of got in a problem that we should do that. We should address the antelope 
separately.  

 
Covy Jones: And we need to address, I’m sorry, so in the antlerless 

animals that we haven’t addressed are antlerless moose, doe pronghorn, and ewe 
big horn sheep. We need to make sure we address all of those with antlerless. 

 

about:blank


Page 33 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Dan Abeyta: Brett, that doe pronghorn is bookmarked as 5D if that helps, 
over on the left side of the agenda.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Ok.  
 
Rebekah Jones: It’s also on page 24 of the packet.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Ok.  
 
Dax Mangus: Ok, I can give a quick summary of the recommendations 

from our Region if you want. I don’t have all the ones from the rest of the state on 
memory, but I can give you a run down of our regional pronghorn recs if you 
want it. 

 
Brett Prevedel: Or I can just read it here, I finally found it. This is limited 

entry pronghorn permits, which we didn’t address any of the pronghorn. LE 
pronghorn permits there is an increase from 24-34 in the Book Cliffs Bitter Creek. 
Book Cliffs South is stable at 29. The Nine Mile/Anthro there is an increase of 74 
to 90. Nine Mile Range Creek, which is out of our unit, but it’s stable at 12. North 
Slope/Summit an increase of two from eight to ten. North Slope/Three Corners 
had an increase of 35 to 40. SS/Bonanza/Diamond Mountain an increase from 51-
60. SS Vernal an increase also from 40-57. And that’s the LE antelope. Are there 
any questions? It looks like there is pretty much an increase across the board. Are 
there any questions? 

 
Brad Horrocks: The SS Vernal unit and the Bonanza and those that 

they’re increasing them on, is that because of the drought, or has the herd 
objective growing, or what’s the reasoning for such a large increase? 

 
Dax Mangus: So, we manage our buck pronghorn based on average age 

of harvested bucks and that is 2-3, so 2.5 year old age of harvested bucks and all 
of our units are quite a bit above that. And also all of our units have really high 
documented buck/doe ratios. On a unit like Vernal the buck/doe ratio is higher 
than 1:1. In that change where we manage to the age of 2.5 year old bucks, that’s 
just changed in the last few years when we updated the pronghorn plan just a few 
years back. A lot of research and data have shown that pronghorn have achieved 
basically maximum antler growth, not antlers I’m sorry, their horn growth is 
about as big as it’s going to be by the time they’re 2-3 years old. They don’t grow 
a whole lot more if they live much longer than that, so that’s why we changed that 
to allow for more opportunity for more folks to harvest and we can still have good 
trophy quality on pronghorn from our unit as well. So that’s where the increases 
are coming from in our region, we’re well above that age objective, we have high 
success rates, very high hunter satisfaction from our pronghorn hunts, so there is 
opportunity to give more tags based on those ages because of buck/doe ratios.  

 
Brad Horrocks: Good. Thank you. It seems like to me the good years are 

going on around here with the trophy quality, the success and I hear a lot of 
positive about it.  



Page 34 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Brett Prevedel: Are there any other questions about the LE antelope? Ok, 

since we have no side motions, doe pronghorn hunts, there is a new hunt on Nine 
Mile/Anthro/Pleasant Valley with 70 recommended tags. NS/Summit, five tags. 
NS/Three Corners, five tags. NS/West Daggett, four tags. I believe that’s the 
recommended ones. Is the new hunt new tags, or is it just a new boundary?  

 
Dax Mangus: It’s a new hunt, new tags. Pronghorn, it’s kind of 

interesting, things are looking pretty good for bucks, as far as mature bucks and 
like I mentioned harvest success and hunter satisfaction. As far as overall 
pronghorn numbers we have seen some little dips on fawn recruitment because of 
the drought. But they’re pretty adaptive so what we’ve had happen in a few areas 
like Pleasant Valley, and Ouray Valley are a couple of them, we’ve had a ton of 
the pronghorn that have sucked into the irrigated alfalfa fields. They’re doing 
great, they’re having twins, they’re having triplets when they’re having irrigated 
alfalfa. But some of those landowners are getting pretty tired of seeing literally 
hundred of pronghorn in their alfalfa fields. Last year we called a couple of 
emergency depredation doe hunts and harvested some does in those areas, and we 
also issued some landowner vouchers, but we had a lot of landowners that were 
willing to let the public on to harvest the doe so we could address some of this 
change in distribution of a lot of pronghorn showing up in irrigated fields and 
being really productive. So, rather than issuing as many landowner vouchers, or 
calling those emergency depredation hunter pool hunts, we’re going to issue these 
public draw doe pronghorn permits. There seems to be quite a bit of demand to 
draw out doe pronghorn hunts, and we have a lot of landowners that are willing to 
let the public on. So that’s a new hunt, new permits but it’s kind of replacing the 
permits that we issued through the depredation hunter pool last year or vouchers 
that we’ve been issuing to landowners, and we’re still trying to navigate this and 
figure it out in Ouray Valley, but in Pleasant Valley we’re recommending this doe 
hunt this year and we’re hoping this can work towards addressing the over 
abundance of pronghorn in those irrigated fields.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, are there any questions or any other questions or 

anything that would deviate from the recommendation for doe pronghorn? Ok, 
Covy’s suggestion is a good one, while we’re dealing with these we’ll just group 
them into one motion. Antlerless moose hunt, there aren’t any in the northeastern 
region that I can see. There just the two in East Canyon, one in Morgan and one in 
Ogden. If anyone has any questions or any concern with that, please speak up. 
Then there is one bighorn ewe hunt to harvest ten animals on the Newfoundland 
Mountains. Does anyone have any comments on that? Ok, if not, I would take a 
motion to approve the Divisions recommendations for buck antelope, antlerless 
antelope, pronghorn excuse me, antlerless moose, and ewe bighorn.  

 
Dan Abeyta: I’ll make a motion that we accept the Divisions proposal for 

those that you just mentioned, Mr. Chairman.  
 
Brad Horrocks: I would second that motion.  
 



Page 35 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

The following motion was made by Dan Abeyta, seconded by Brad 
Horrocks.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: n/a.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones:  
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION: to accept the Divisions proposals on buck and antlerless 
pronghorn, antlerless moose, and ewe bighorn sheep as presented by 
the Division.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you Covy, keeping us in line.  
 
Covy Jones: Thank you, Mr. Chair.  
 
Brett Prevedel: We’ll move on to OIAL permit recommendations. Riley 

would you give us a very brief overview. A summary like your summary page?  
 
Riley Peck: I can, I thought Miles was going to do that? Is that accurate 

Miles?  
 
02:05:45 Electronic Public Comment Report by Miles Hanberg, NERO 

Regional Supervisor   
 

Miles Hanberg: I can give the public input or the comments from the 
public, which we received no comments or anything at all on the OIAL. No 
responses from our region at all on that. In terms of the permit numbers and those 
kinds of changes, I don’t have those right in front of me.  

 



Page 36 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Riley Peck: I’m sorry Mr. Chair, I thought you were asking about the 
public comment and information that way. Were you asking about the permit 
summaries? 

 
Brett Prevedel: Yes, just a brief summary of your recommendation just 

like what you have on your memorandum.  
 
Riley Peck: Alright, in summary I’ll start with bison on the Book Cliffs, 

there is not a large change in that. Generally speaking we’re leaving bison on the 
Book Cliffs very similar to what it was in 2020. Maybe a couple of exceptions to 
that would be the Little Creek Roadless area and the Bitter Creek South hunt. On 
bison on the Henry Mountains, to address drought, range conditions and some of 
the factors that are surrounded by that, there is a pretty aggressive increase in 
bison on the Henry’s. And when looking at bighorn sheep for Desert Bighorn, 
we’re looking at an increase of three permits overall on Desert Bighorn. For 
Rocky Mountain Bighorn we’re looking at an increase of three permits overall. 
On mountain goat we’re recommending a decrease of two permits overall. Then I 
think that leaves me with moose, is that the only one I left off? I did, with moose 
we’re recommending an increase of five permits overall. I don’t know if there are 
questions on the specific units or animals, but that is a brief overview of the 
recommendations.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you, I appreciate that. Any questions from the 

RAC? 
   
 
02:08:11 Questions from RAC Members 
 

Brett Prevedel: Ok, I hear none, if everyone is good with the 
recommendations, I would entertain a motion.  

 
Jeff Taniguchi: I would like to recommend that we accept the Divisions 

recommendation on once in a lifetime animals.  
 
Natasha Hadden: I’ll second that.  
 
The following motion was made by Jeff Taniguchi, seconded by 
Natasha Hadden.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 



Page 37 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: n/a.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones:  
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION: to accept the Divisions proposals on Once in a Lifetime 
species as presented. 
 

 
   
02:09:50 9) 2021 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations (Action) 
     Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 
 
 

   Presentations could be viewed at  
     http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 
 
  

Brett Prevedel: Chad, are you with us? 
 
Chad Wilson: Yes, I’m here. Were you wanting a review like Riley gave? 
 
Brett Prevedel: Yes, just a brief summary would be great.  
 
Chad Wilson: So, overall this is where the public gets a lot of tags, so 

where there are 42 renewal applications, two change applications, and three new 
application for a total of 66 CWMU’s with antlerless permits. 160 private permits 
and 1,105 public permits. I can break it down per species how many private and 
public if you’d like.  

 
Brett Prevedel: No, I think we’re pretty familiar with it. Does anyone 

have any specific questions related to the CWMU recommendations?  
 

02:11:27 Electronic Public Comment Report by Miles Hanberg, NERO 
Regional Supervisor   

 
  Miles Hanberg: I’ll jump in real quick with the public feedback. Not 
many comments, 50% strongly agreed and 50% neither agreed or disagreed. There was 
really only 1 comment and that comment was supporting more cow tags on CWMU in an 
effort to help distribute elk from CWMUs on to some of the adjacent public lands. In 

about:blank


Page 38 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

some cases, I think the comment indicated that the elk can stack up on CWMUs and not 
be available to the public on public lands. So their support was to get more tags to help 
distribute tags further out on the landscape.  
 

Brett Prevedel: I believe that same comment was brining up that they 
would not hunt CWMUs during the general hunts on the surrounding lands, Chad, 
as a way to give the animals refuge from the public hunters. There were some 
comments… (inaudible). 

 
Chad Wilson: You kind of fell off there at the end, but I think I 

understand the question. Yeah, I guess there is just concern. We have the private 
lands only tags that we give to make it so there is pressure on the elk on private 
lands, so the concept is that the CWMUs potentially we need to do the same 
thing. They have tags so sometimes I don’t know if it’s just wanting more tags, 
but maybe targeting of when they hunt. So the concept was more having the 
CWMUs hunt their elk at the same time we have antlerless elk seasons. So when 
we have our general season it doesn’t just push them on to CWMUs and give 
them a safe haven that we can have higher success both on the CWMU and off the 
CWMU. 

 
Brett Prevedel: Ok, thank you. So, does anybody on the RAC have any 

questions or any input on the CWMU recommendations? If not I would entertain 
a motion on that subject. 

 
Natasha Hadden: I’ll make a motion to accept the CWMU antlerless 

permit recommendations as presented by the Division of Wildlife. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Second.  
 
The following motion was made by Natasha Hadden, seconded by Jeff 
Taniguchi.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: No. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 



Page 39 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones:  
 
Motion passed 9 in favor, 1 opposed.  
 
MOTION: to approve the Divisions recommendations on CWMU 
antlerless permits as presented by the Division.    
 

 
02:15:08 10) Conservation Permit Rule Amendments 
       Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 
 

   Presentations could be viewed at  
     http://wildlife.utah.gov/feedback.html 
 

Brett Prevedel: Justin, would you just briefly summarize this? 
 
Justin Shannon: Sorry, I was on mute there Brett. Apologize. I’ll 

summarize this briefly. What we’re doing is recommending updates the 
conservation permit rule. In a nutshell it’s to simplify, strength, and clarify 
portions of the rule. That’s what we’re doing tonight.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. It looks like it’s fairly complex with the 

graphs and the trades, and all that.  
 
Justin Shannon: Yeah, when you look at it a lot of what we were doing 

was cutting portions of the rule. And there were changes throughout. But if this 
passes, the rule will be much more simple and shorter. Miles, did you have a 
summary? 

 
02:16:26 Electronic Public Comment Report by Miles Hanberg, Regional 

Supervisor   
 

Miles Hanberg: Yes. So basically the feedback was that 20% strongly 
agreed, 20% somewhat agreed, then 60% neither agreed nor disagreed. And we 
didn’t have any public comment submitted on this topic.  

 
02:16:46 Questions from RAC Members 
 

Brett Prevedel: Does the RAC have any questions or comments? 
 
Daniel Davis: I’ve got a couple of questions, Mr. Chair. So on the profit 

share, could you provide us a little more clarification on the profit shared portion 
of that and how it applies to new organizations getting in? 

 

about:blank


Page 40 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

Justin Shannon: Yes, let me make sure I understand the question. Is your 
question what is market share, or is it, if a new organization joins how do they get 
market share? 

 
Daniel Davis: Yes, that correct I’m sorry. Market not profit.  
 
Justin Shannon: Ok, I’ll start with the latter then. If a new organization 

joins the conservation permit program, they’ll get .5% market share. Which is 
higher than what it was previously with a one year group starting. What we 
wanted to do was start new groups off on the right foot and get them integrated in 
to the three year program. Let them have tags available that they can market 
during that three year time frame and raise the money for wildlife conservation. 
Does that help? 

 
Daniel Davis: It does. Now do these conservation organizations 

supplement more than that .5% if they get choose. 
 
Justin Shannon: I’m sorry, I don’t understand the question. What do you 

mean by supplement the .5%? 
 
Daniel Davis: So that .5%, if I understand correctly, goes towards the 

bidding process for conservation permits. Are they capped at that value, or can 
they add additional funds if you will for additional permits? 

 
Justin Shannon: Oh I see. For the first three years it would be set at .5%, 

but then based on how the conservation organization preforms during that period, 
for example if they double their market share, or they sell those permits for quite a 
bit more than it was the previous three years, and they’re able to increase their 
market share, then yes the next time we do a three year cycle they’d have more 
money to bid on permits and get more permits for their conservation organization. 

 
Daniel Davis: And that’s on growth, correct? So what happens in an 

instance when some units decrease, what happens to some of their conservation 
permits don’t hold a public perceived value that grows and they’re unable to 
obtain that growth. Is that a penalty towards those organizations?  

 
Justin Shannon: Yeah, that’s why it’s so important to draft wisely. So 

when the conservation organization is looking to spend their market share and 
what to obtain the right permits, they’ll have to choose wisely on what they think 
members of their organization would be willing to bid on. So we constantly have 
units that improve or decrease over the life of the three year span, so there’s no 
certainty with it. But again, the groups are able to submit their permits up front, so 
the more research a group does, the better off they’ll be.  

 
Daniel Davis: One more quick clarification, I glanced over the rule. The 

conservation permits are auction only, is that correct? These organizations 
couldn’t do a raffle of sorts, or any other additional fund-raising attempts to 
generate funds. Is that correct? 



Page 41 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Justin Shannon: Yeah, so what it needs to be is an online on in person 

auction with the assistance of a live auctioneer that is well advertised. As part of 
the rule that’s the way they should be auctioned.  

 
Daniel Davis: I just want to say thanks to Justin. I wanted to get some of 

that information out there. I’ve been asked a lot about how that process works 
directly in line with the questions that I asked. So I appreciate you answering 
those for me tonight.  

 
Justin Shannon: No problem, thanks Daniel.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Any other questions from the RAC? If not, I 

will entertain a motion on this topic to accept it as presented. Sorry, I had to 
relocate, I’ve had some Wi-Fi problems. That’s why I’m running around my 
house carrying my computer. You guys just quit talking. You’re right there on the 
screen and you’re not moving and I realized it’s not you, it’s me. 

 
Daniel Davis: I’ll make the motion, Mr. Chair, to accept the amendments 

as presented. 
 
Brad Horrocks: I’ll second that, Mr. Chair.  
 
The following motion was made by Daniel Davis, seconded by Brad 
Horrocks.  
 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Abstain. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones:  
 
Motion passed 9 in favor, 1 abstained.  
 



Page 42 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

MOTION: to approve the Division presentation as presented.    
 
Brett Prevedel: Thanks for bearing with me. I had some technical issues 

the whole meeting. Are there any other topics anyone wants to discuss tonight? 
 
Dan Abeyta: I’ve got a question, I kind of missed my opportunity. I lost 

connection here earlier in our meeting. But I wanted to ask the question to the 
Division of Wildlife about the safety of human consumption of deer that have 
CWD. What’ the latest on that because I hear it’s safe to eat deer that are infected 
with CWD; but I hear there is also information out there that suggest that maybe 
it’s not so safe. I’m thinking in terms of that SS/Myton 200 doe deer permit. 
Could somebody address that question? 

 
Covy Jones: I can take that one if you’d like. First of all, I’m not a 

veterinarian, and I’m not a medical professional, I’m a biologist. So I’m going to 
address it as a biologist and the understanding I have, which is pretty limited. 
What I would say is, we’ll test the animal. So I wouldn’t recommend that anyone 
ate meat from a deer that has CWD, I know that they’ve done studies, and you 
find studies on… You can research that out on your own and make the decision 
out for yourself. But I will say that we’re willing to test the animal, we’re wiling 
to come and get to dispose of the meat. I wouldn’t recommend that anybody ate 
the meat of a positive animal. Is there anything I missed or anything you’d like to 
add to that? 

 
Justin Shannon: I would just say that we’ll air on the side of caution, and 

we’d recommend against it.  
 
Daniel Davis: The point is the protected to discard that meat through a 

dumpster, dump station or what have you, without the potential for waste of 
wildlife. Or how does that process work? 

 
Covy Jones: Call us Daniel, we’ll come get it.  
 
Randall Thacker: We send out a letter to each of those permittees that 

they an identify where they can get that animal tested so they have the opportunity 
to get it tested. We encourage them strongly to get them tested and make sure if 
they do have an animal that tests positive, we have someone who literally will go 
pick up the meat from them and take it so we make sure it gets destroyed and 
doesn’t end up in a dumpster or end up on a mountain. We make sure it goes in 
the right place and then they have the opportunity if there is a positive animal we 
give them a permit for the next year so they don’t lose the opportunity gain the 
meat.  

 
Dan Abeyta: Ok, that’s kind of where I was going Randall. Thank you.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: I just had another quick comment on the Book Cliffs. I 

think there is a lot of effort and it’s a good effort but it’s a combined effort 
between a lot of agencies and individuals. I think the Book Cliffs is a touchy area 



Page 43 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

and it’s sensitive right now, but I think the management adjustments that’s been 
made out there, a lot of the efforts that are made out there, I think we’re going to 
see results. I think we get some moisture and things are headed in the right 
direction out there in the Book Cliffs. With some added moisture I think we’re 
going to see some big changes. And my comment on the roadless area wasn’t 
meant to mean the DWR hasn’t done any habitat in there, it just meant we have 
additional opportunity on some of those ridges to help out. But I really like a lot 
of the direction that the way things are going in the Book Cliffs. Thank you.  

 
Daniel Davis: Mr. Chair, would it be possible to ask that with those Book 

Cliffs updates that are going to be provided throughout the next few upcoming 
RACs, if it would be possible to identify some of the funded projects from the 
conservation organizations that are helping out and kind of what that value 
accounts for? We talk about it; we’re all committed to help. We’ve had the 
meeting recently where the money has been dedicated to some of those specific 
improvements. Could those be included as well in those updates? 

 
Miles Hanberg: Yeah, we can do that Daniel. We have some spreadsheet 

with total amounts of contributions from partners. We can do that specifically on 
the Book Cliffs. That’s totally possible.  

 
Daniel Davis: Thank you, Miles.  
 
Brett Prevedel: Thanks, Miles. Do you have anything else you want to 

add this evening, Miles? 
 
Miles Hanberg: Nothing really specific, but Brad made a comment that 

maybe we need to toot our own horn more, and I think this Book Cliffs working 
group is a lot of success and a lot of progress made and we definitely need to toot 
the horn of the collective group and the things that have been accomplished out 
there. We provide updates here and there but it’s time to update the RAC and 
hopefully the public can see the magnitude of efforts that have been applied out 
there. And it’s something that I think is good commitment of our partners to 
continue to move forward with that in the future. It’s an important area for a lot of 
people, the sportsmen, the state, so we’re taking it seriously.  

 
Brett Prevedel: Thank you. Have we addressed everything on your list, 

Miles? After I got it out of order, do you think we got it all captured? 
 
Miles Hanberg: Yes, as I look at it, I think we did. Unless anybody else 

sees a place that we missed, I think we got everything covered.  
 
Daniel Davis: Mr. Chair I’d like to make a motion to adjourn.  
 
Dan Abeyta: I second that.  
 
The following motion was made by Daniel Davis, seconded by Dan 
Abeyta.  



Page 44 of 44 NERO: 04/15/2021 
 

 
Dan Abeyta: Yes. 
 
Jeff Taniguchi: Yes. 
 
Brad Horrocks: Yes. 
 
Mike Smith: Yes. 
 
Daniel Davis: Yes. 
 
Natasha Hadden: Yes. 
 
Conroy Reed: Yes. 
 
Joe Arnold: Yes.  
 
Ritchie Anderson: Yes. 
 
Rebekah Jones:  
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
MOTION: to adjourn.   

 
 
02:31:10 Meeting adjourned at 8:30 pm.  



1594 West North Temple, Suite 3710 • PO Box 145610 • Salt Lake City, UT 84114-5610 • Telephone (801) 538-7200  • www.nr.utah.gov 

 
 

  
 State of Utah 

  
 SPENCER J. COX 
 Governor 
 
 DEIDRE M. HENDERSON 
 Lieutenant Governor 
 
   
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
Date:                April, 20 2021 
 
To:            Wildlife Board and Regional Advisory Council Members 
 
From:        Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 
 
Subject:  Weber Florence Creek CWMU Tag Numbers 
 
Weber Florence Creek CWMU renewed their CWMU last year, and it was approved by the 
Wildlife Board in December 2020.  Last year, DWR switched to an online database for all 
CWMU applications, and permit numbers were converted over to the new database.  
Unfortunately, DWR inadvertently recommended 10 less bull elk permits for Weber Florence 
Creek CWMU during this process, and the error was not caught by DWR or Weber Florence 
Creek which resulted in the Wildlife Board approving fewer permits than desired for this 
CWMU.  In fall 2020, the Weber Florence Creek received 72 private vouchers and 8 public 
hunters were able to hunt the CWMU.  DWR is recommending 9 additional private vouchers and 
1 additional public draw permit for the Weber Florence Creek CWMU (see table below).   
  
 

Year Species Private Public 
2020 Bull elk 72 8 
2021 Bull elk 63 7 
Asking Bull elk 72 8 

 

       

Department of Natural Resources 
 
BRIAN C. STEED 
Executive Director 
 
 
Division of Wildlife Resources 
 
J. RORY REYNOLDS 
Division Director 
 
 

  



1594 West North Temple, Suite 3710 • PO Box 145610 • Salt Lake City, UT 84114-5610 • Telephone (801) 538-7200  • www.nr.utah.gov 

 
 

  
 State of Utah 

  
 SPENCER J. COX 
 Governor 
 
 DEIDRE M. HENDERSON 
 Lieutenant Governor 
 
   

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date:  April 14, 2021 
To:    Wildlife Board and Regional Advisory Council Members 
From:  Nathan Owens, AIS Coordinator 
Subject: Proposed rule change to R657-60 (Aquatic invasive species interdiction rule) 
 
 
The Utah Division of Wildlife Resources (UDWR) has helped protect Utah’s lakes and 
reservoirs from invasive quagga and zebra mussels for over a decade through its implementation 
of the Aquatic invasive species interdiction rule (R657-60). Since the inception of UDWR’s 
Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS) Program, watercraft decontamination has played a pivotal role in 
preventing the spread of invasive mussels from reservoirs like Lake Powell, Lake Mead, and 
Lake Havasu. 
 
Watercraft decontamination is required prior to the launching of any boat in Utah that has been 
used in an infested water or in any other water subject to closure order under Section R657-60-8 
or control plan under Section R657-60-9 within the last 30 days. These decontamination 
requirements can be met in three different ways: 
 

1. through the clean, drain, and dry process by which a boat is kept dry for a 
defined period of time depending on the time of year and type of boat;  
 

2. through a professional hot water decontamination by a Division-approved 
provider. This professional decontamination includes the application of a 
combination of 120° and 140°F water to different areas and systems of the 
watercraft in order to kill any mussels onboard; or 
 

3. by complying with the decontamination protocols identified in a certificate 
of registration issued by the Division. 
 

With a goal of always providing the quickest and most effective watercraft decontamination 
services to the public, UDWR has used the maximum water temperatures possible without 
risking damage to the watercraft or any of its systems. These decontamination standards are 
science-based and shared and recognized by all western states. 
 
UDWR and its partners have developed a new revolutionary method for decontaminating 
complex watercraft like wakeboards using a hot water dip tank. This new method will involve 

Department of Natural Resources 
 
BRIAN C. STEED 
Executive Director 
 
 
Division of Wildlife Resources 
 
J. RORY REYNOLDS 
Division Director 
 
 

  



1594 West North Temple, Suite 3710 • PO Box 145610 • Salt Lake City, UT 84114-5610 • Telephone (801) 538-7200  • www.nr.utah.gov 

 
 

the boater backing their boat down into a tank full of water maintained at a temperature of 110°F 
and activating the motor, ballast and bilge pumps, and other raw water systems simultaneously. 
The exposure to hot water will allow for the complete decontamination of the boat exterior and 
all raw water systems onboard in under five minutes. The same decontamination performed 
without the dip tank would take between 30-60 minutes. As a result, the use of the dip tank at 
Lake Powell will allow UDWR to more effectively and efficiently decontaminate watercraft 
departing the infested reservoir and protect other waters in Utah. 
 
UDWR is proposing a rule change to the Aquatic invasive species interdiction rule that  adds 
needed flexibility to the temperature requirements for hot water decontaminations and more 
expansively reflect scientific findings on mussel mortality when exposed to hot water. This 
change would accommodate UDWR’s new dip tank technology at Lake Powell, which utilizes 
water at lower temperatures but with longer exposure times, to decontaminate departing 
watercraft and address the mussel threat as close to the source as possible. 
 
This rule change was not presented to the Regional Advisory Councils because of the 
compressed timeline associated with this project. UDWR was uncertain as to when the dip tank 
would be finished and transported to and installed onsite at Stateline Launch Ramp at Lake 
Powell. With the boating season at Lake Powell already beginning to pick up, and the low water 
levels at the reservoir resulting in hydrostatic mussels on several retrieved boats each day, there 
is an urgent need to deploy this tool as soon as possible to ensure Utah’s lakes and reservoirs are 
protected and that mussels are not being transported on boats out of the Lake Powell area. 
 
Fabrication and testing of the hot water decontamination dip tank was recently conducted and 
proved successful. The dip tank has been transported down to Stateline Launch Ramp at Lake 
Powell and installed at the site. Based on the best scientific research available, this proposed rule 
change would allow UDWR to employ the dip tank in the fight against invasive mussels on May 
1st. 
 
 
 
 



 
R657. Natural Resources, Wildlife Resources. 
R657-60. Aquatic Invasive Species Interdiction. 
R657-60-1. Purpose and Authority. 
 (1) The purpose of this rule is to define procedures and regulations designed to prevent 
and control the spread of aquatic invasive species within Utah. 
 (2) This rule is promulgated pursuant to authority granted to the Wildlife Board in 
Sections 23-27-401, 23-14-18, and 23-14-19. 
 
R657-60-2. Definitions. 
 (1) Terms used in this rule are defined in Sections 23-13-2 and 23-27-102.  
 (2) In addition:  
 (a) "Conveyance" means a terrestrial or aquatic vehicle, including a vessel, or a vehicle 
part that may carry or contain a Dreissena mussel. 
 (b) "Decontaminate" or “Decontaminated” means to comply with one of the following 
methods:  
 (i) if no adult mussels are attached to the conveyance after exiting the water body, an 
owner or operator may self-decontaminate equipment or a conveyance that has been in an 
infested water in the previous 30 days by:  
 (A) removing all plants, fish, and mud from the equipment or conveyance; 
 (B) draining all water from the equipment or conveyance, including water held in ballast 
tanks, bilges, livewells, and motors; and 
 (C) drying the equipment or conveyance for no less than seven days in June, July and 
August;18 days in September, October, November, March, April and May; 30 days in December, 
January and February; or expose the equipment or conveyance to sub-freezing temperatures for 
72 consecutive hours; or  

(D) if all water cannot be drained from the conveyance, or the conveyance has a complex 
water or mechanical system that the division determines poses a significant risk that Dreissena 
mussels could remain on the conveyance after the dry time identified in Subsection (C), fulfilling 
the requirements of Subsection (A) and (B) to the extent practicable and drying the conveyance 
for no less than 30 days;   
 (ii) professionally decontaminate equipment or a conveyance that has been in an infested 
water in the previous 30 days by: 
 (A) using a professional decontamination service approved by the division to[ apply 
scalding water, 140 degrees Fahrenheit, to completely wash the equipment or conveyance and] 
flush any areas where water is held, including ballast tanks, bilges, livewells, and motors, and to 
apply scalding water to all conveyance and equipment surfaces at the temperature and immersion 
time necessary for 100 percent mussel mortality as provided in the Uniform Minimum Protocols 
and Standards for Watercraft Inspection and Decontamination Programs for Dreissenid Mussels 
in the Western United States;; and  
 (B) complete a mandatory 30 day dry time after the scalding water wash is completed if 
the division determines that, due to the complexity of water or mechanical systems on the 
conveyance, a significant risk that Dreissena mussels remain present on the conveyance 
regardless of receiving a scalding water wash described in Subsection (A); or 
 (iii) complying with all protocols identified in a certificate of registration.  



 (c) "Detected Water" or "Detected" means a water body, facility, or water supply system 
where the presence of a Dreissena mussel is indicated in two consecutive sampling events using 
visual identification or microscopy and the results of each sampling event is confirmed in two 
polymerase chain reaction tests, each conducted at independent laboratories. 
 (d) "Dreissena mussel" means a mussel of the genus Dreissena at any life stage, including 
a zebra mussel, a quagga mussel and a Conrad's false mussel.  
 (e)  "Controlling entity" means the owner, operator, or manager of a water body, facility, 
or a water supply system.  
 (f) "Equipment" means an article, tool, implement, or device capable of carrying or 
containing water or Dreissena mussel. 
 (g) "Facility" means a structure that is located within or adjacent to a water body. 
 (h) “Highway” has the same meaning as Subsection 72-1-102(7). 

(i) "Infested Water" or "Infested" means a water body, facility, water supply system, or 
geographic region where the presence of multiple age classes of attached Dreissena mussels is 
indicated in two or more consecutive sampling events using visual detection or microscopy and 
the result of each sampling event is confirmed in two polymerase chain reaction tests, each 
conducted at independent laboratories. 
 (j) "Juvenile or adult Dreissena mussel" means a macroscopic Dreissena mussel that is 
not a veliger. 
 (k) “Quarantine” means imposing a required minimum period of time where a 
conveyance must stay at a predetermined location in order to minimize the risk that Dreissena 
mussels are spread.  
 (l) "Suspected Water" or "Suspected" means a water body, facility, or water supply 
system where the presence of a Dreissena mussel is indicated through a single sampling event 
using visual identification or microscopy and the result of that sampling event is confirmed in 
two independent polymerase chain reaction tests, each conducted at independent laboratories. 
 (m) "Veliger" means a microscopic, planktonic larva of Dreissena mussel.  
 (n) "Vessel" has the same meaning as Subsection 73-18-2(19). 
 (o) "Water body" means natural or impounded surface water, including a stream, river, 
spring, lake, reservoir, pond, wetland, tank, and fountain. 
 (p) "Water supply system" means a system that treats, conveys, or distributes water for 
irrigation, industrial, wastewater treatment, or culinary use, including a pump, canal, ditch or, 
pipeline. 
 (q) "Water supply system" does not include a water body. 
 
  
KEY:  fish, wildlife, wildlife law 
Date of Enactment or Last Substantive Amendment: September 8, 2020 
Notice of Continuation:  July 31, 2018 
Authorizing, and Implemented or Interpreted Law: 23-27-401; 23-14-18; 23-14-19 
 
  



1594 West North Temple, Suite 3710 • PO Box 145610 • Salt Lake City, UT 84114-5610 • Telephone (801) 538-7200  • www.nr.utah.gov 

 
 

  
 State of Utah 

  
 SPENCER J. COX 
 Governor 
 
 DEIDRE M. HENDERSON 
 Lieutenant Governor 
 
   

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  April 20, 2021 
 
TO:   Wildlife Board Members  
 
FROM:  Lindy Varney, Wildlife Licensing Coordinator 
 
SUBJECT: Appeal of denial of a variance request – Mr. Clint Heiber 
 
On November 3, 2020 Mr. Clint Heiber submitted an application for a variance request on his 
2020 Statewide Limited-Entry Deer conservation permit. His reason for the variance request was 
due to COVID-19, claiming he was “unable to travel out of State due to COVID-19 risk”.  
 
While considering Mr. Heiber’s variance application, the Division of Wildlife Resources 
(“DWR”) received a tip from a member of the public claiming that Mr. Heiber traveled to Utah 
during the season dates of his permit.  DWR staff investigated, and determined that Mr. Heiber 
stayed with a guide service in Utah during his hunt dates, and thus likely had multiple 
opportunities to go into the field and hunt.  DWR staff also collected information, via Mr. 
Heiber’s own social media, that he also traveled out of the country to hunt shortly after he 
submitted his variance application.  Based on this information, the Division Error Committee 
determined that Mr. Heiber did not qualify for a variance and denied his application.   
Mr. Heiber filed a timely appeal of the Division Error Committee’s decision, thus bringing it 
before the Wildlife Board for review. 
 
 
 
        

Department of Natural Resources 
 
BRIAN C. STEED 
Executive Director 
 
 
Division of Wildlife Resources 
 
J. RORY REYNOLDS 
Division Director 
 
 

  





































 

 

 

1 

GREGORY B. HANSEN # 13731 

Assistant Attorney General 

UTAH ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE 

1594 West North Temple, Suite 2110   

Salt Lake City, Utah 84114 

Telephone:  (801) 538-4744 

Email:  greghansen@agutah.gov 

                                                                                                                                            

 

BEFORE THE UTAH WILDLIFE BOARD 

                                                                                                                                            

 

IN THE MATTER OF THE  :          STIPULATION AND ORDER 

PRIVILEGES OF  : 

Eric E. Richins : Case No. 2017-001986 

TO HUNT IN THE STATE OF UTAH :     

          

 

                                                                                                                                            

 

The DIVISION OF WILDLIFE RESOURCES (“Division”) and ERIC E. RICHINS 

(“Petitioner”) as evidenced by their signatures to this Stipulation agree as follows: 

1. Petitioner admits the jurisdiction of the Division over him and over the subject 

matter of this action.   

2. Petitioner acknowledges that he enters into this Stipulation voluntarily and other 

than that which is contained in this Stipulation, no promise or threat whatsoever has been made 

by the Division, or any member, officer, agent or representative of the Division to induce him to 

enter into this Stipulation. 

3. Petitioner is represented by legal counsel Aaron W. Owens, Esq., has reviewed 

this Stipulation with his counsel, and knowingly executes this Stipulation fully understanding its 

terms, conditions and consequences. 



 

 

 

2 

5. Petitioner acknowledges and understands that any suspension of big game hunting 

privileges imposed in this Stipulation is given reciprocal recognition in other states participating 

in the Interstate Wildlife Violator Compact.   

6. Petitioner understands that he is entitled to a formal hearing before the Utah 

Wildlife Board, at which time he may present to the Board evidence on his behalf, present his 

own witnesses, and confront adverse witnesses.  Petitioner acknowledges that by executing this 

document he waives his right to: (1) a hearing before the Board; (2) present evidence on his 

behalf; (3) present his own witnesses; and (4) confront adverse witnesses, together with such 

other rights as to which he may be entitled in connection with said hearing. 

7. Petitioner understands and agrees that by executing this Stipulation he waives his 

rights to further administrative and judicial review. 

8. Petitioner does not contest the following allegations of the Division: 

a. On or around September 10, 2016, Petitioner went elk hunting on a 

property he owns in northern Utah.   

 

b. At the time of his September 10th hunt, Petitioner held an unfilled and 

valid 2016 antlerless elk control permit.  Petitioner had already harvested a 

bull elk and filled his 2016 Hunter’s Choice elk permit.     

 

c. Petitioner invited an acquaintance of his, Mr. Wright, to hunt on 

Petitioner’s property.  Mr. Wright held a valid 2016 elk permit.   

 

d. Petitioner shot an arrow at a 6 x 6 bull elk and the elk died.  Petitioner 

requested that Mr. Wright tag the elk with his permit and Mr. Wright did 

so. 

    

e.   On November 21, 2018, Petitioner entered into a no contest Plea in 

Abeyance to Wanton Destruction of Protected Wildlife, a Class A 

Misdemeanor, in Second District Court of Utah (Case No. 18500048), in 

violation of Utah Code Section 23-20-4.     

   

f.   An informal administrative hearing was completed on May 7, 2019 to 

consider suspension of Petitioner’s hunting privileges.  Petitioner 



 

 

 

3 

participated in the hearing and was provided the opportunity to present 

evidence on the issue of suspension.  Petitioner was represented in the 

hearing by Mr. Aaron Owens, Esq.   

 

g. The Division issued a Decision and Order on May 31, 2019, ordering, 

among other things, the suspension of Petitioner’s big game hunting 

privileges for a period of eight (8) years, effective from June 3, 2019 to 

June 3, 2022.   

 

h. Petitioner appealed the Division’s Decision and Order to the Wildlife 

Board on June 18, 2019. 

   

9. Petitioner acknowledges that circumstances exist surrounding the allegations in 

paragraph 8 that may support a finding that the Petitioner’s acts were committed knowingly, 

intentionally, or recklessly and they constitute violations of the Wildlife Code to which he was 

pleaded no-contest to through a Plea in Abeyance agreement.  Accordingly, a basis exists under 

Utah Code § 23-19-9 for the Division to suspend Petitioner’s hunting privileges in Utah.      

10. Petitioner asserts on appeal that the hearing officer’s order was overly harsh and 

excessive.   

11. Based upon the on the allegations he is not contesting in paragraphs 8 and 9 and 

the additional considerations presented in paragraph 10, the Parties enter into this Stipulation as 

final resolution of Petitioner’s pending appeal.     

12. Petitioner accepts and agrees to the following terms and conditions: 

a. Petitioner’s big game hunting privileges are suspended for 4 years, 8 

months, and 27 days, beginning June 3, 2019 and ending March 1, 

2024.  The remaining time period of suspension imposed in the Division’s 

May 2019 Decision and Order are set aside and vacated.  The Small Game 

and Turkey suspension issued in the Division’s May 2019 Decision and 

Order are also set aside and vacated. 

 

b. During the period of suspension, Petitioner may not obtain or attempt to 

obtain any big game hunting permit.  Any big game permit, or bonus or 

preference point for big game, obtained by Petitioner in violation of this 

Stipulation and Order is invalid.  Petitioner may obtain a restricted hunting 



 

 

 

4 

or combination license from the Division that does not allow use for big 

game purposes while this Stipulation and Order remains effective. 

 

c. Petitioner shall immediately surrender to the Division of Wildlife 

Resources any license or permit held in his possession that is suspended 

by virtue of this Stipulation and Order. 

 

d. Any subsequent violation that occurs within the period of suspension may 

result in a doubled suspension period imposed consecutively with any 

existing unexpired suspension period, and may further result in the 

suspension of all hunting and fishing privileges. 

 

e. The suspension imposed in this Stipulation and Order are reciprocally 

recognized in all states participating in the Interstate Wildlife Violator 

Compact (“IWVC”).  At the time of this Stipulation, 49 states are 

members of the IWVC. 

 

13.     This agreement, upon approval by the Wildlife Board, shall be the final 

compromise and settlement of this matter.  Petitioner acknowledges the Wildlife Board is not 

required to accept the terms of this Stipulation, and if the Wildlife Board does not do so, this 

Stipulation and the representations contained herein shall be null and void, except that the 

Division and Petitioner waive any claim of bias or prejudgment they might have regarding the 

Wildlife Board by virtue of it having reviewed this Stipulation.  

14. Petitioner acknowledges that this Stipulation, once accepted by the Wildlife 

Board, will be classified by the Division as a “public” record under the Utah Governmental 

Records Access Management Act. 

15. This document constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes and cancels any and all prior negotiations, representations, understandings or 

agreements between the parties.  There are no verbal agreements which modify, interpret, 

construe or affect this Stipulation and Order.



7/13/20

7/13/2020

07/13/2020



 

 

 

6 

ORDER 

 

The above Stipulation in the matter of ERIC E. RICHINS, which is approved by the 

Division of Wildlife Resources, constitutes the Wildlife Board’s Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law in this matter.  The terms and conditions of the Stipulation are incorporated 

herein and constitute the Wildlife Board’s final Order in this case.     

DATED this          day of                                  , 2020. 

 

 

 

                                                                       

      Byron Bateman, Chairman 

Utah Wildlife Board 


	1 - 4 April 29 2021 Agenda draft
	2 - 4-29-2021 Action Log
	3 - 1-5-2021 Wildlife Board Minutes DRAFT
	4 - Summary of Motions
	5a - CR - Draft Minutes
	5b - NR - Draft Minutes
	5c - SR - Draft Minutes
	5d - SER - Draft Minutes
	5e - NER - Draft Minutes
	6 - 2021 Weber Florence Creek Variance
	7 - AIS Rule Amendments - Dip Tank
	7a - R657-60a 2021 RL
	8 - Variance Appeal - Mr. Clint Heiber
	8a - Clint Heiber Variance Request
	9 - Richins Eric - stipulation Final (greg signature)



